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Metroparks Toledo Birding

Chasing birds around the globe is a passion for avid birders, but you don't have to
rack up frequent flyer miles to find new feathered friends. A birding adventure is as
close as the nearest Metropark.

Because northwest Ohio lies at the crossroads of two busy flyways for migrating
birds, any Metropark on any given day—especially spring and fall—can bring a
delightful surprise. Lucas County has an abundance of birds and plenty of places to
see them. Metroparks is part of the Lake Erie Birding Trail, featuring the premiere
sites to see almost 400 species. While the spring migration of warblers—those
colorful little songbirds—put northwest Ohio on the map as a birding destination,
there are plenty of birds of all sizes to see any season.
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Introductory Section

Metroparks Toledo Archery

Ready, aim, fire! Metroparks offers the opportunity for you to explore the sport
with a try it program, refine your skills with a class or the beginner 3D league, and
enjoy fun themed shoots throughout the year.






KATIE MOLINE, CPA
LUCAS COUNTY AUDITOR

One Government Center, Suite 600 Email: KMoline@co.lucas.oh.us
Toledo, OH 43604-2255 Phone: (419) 213-4406
www.co.lucas.oh.us/3007/Auditor Fax: (419) 213-4888

May 31, 2024

LUCAS COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS AND CITIZENS OF LUCAS COUNTY

As Auditor of Lucas County, | am pleased to present the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.

This report contains basic financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis, supplemental financial
statements, and other financial and statistical information which provide a complete and full disclosure of all financial
aspects material to Lucas County. This ACFR conforms to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
generally accepted in the United States of America as set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB).

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data presented and the completeness and fairness of the presentation,
including, all disclosures, lies with the management of the County, and in particular, the Office of the Lucas County
Auditor. In fulfilling this responsibility, the Lucas County Auditor’s Office has prepared the accompanying financial
statements, schedules, and tables. We believe this data fairly reflects the financial position of the County and the
results of its operations.

This transmittal letter should be read in conjunction with the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which provides
a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements.

THE COUNTY

Lucas County was formed by an Act of the Ohio General Assembly on June 20, 1835, in honor of then Governor of
Ohio, Robert Lucas. Lucas County’s elected three-member Board of County Commissioners functions as both the
legislative and executive branch of the County. Each Commissioner serves a term of four years. In addition to the
County Auditor, who serves as Chief Fiscal Officer, there are seven elected administrative officials, each of which
operates independently as set forth by Ohio law. These officials are: Clerk of Courts, Coroner, Engineer,
Prosecutor, Recorder, Sheriff, and Treasurer. All of these officials serve four-year terms. The following judges are
elected on a county-wide basis to oversee the County’s judicial system: Common Pleas Court, Domestic Relations
Court, Juvenile Court, Probate Court, and Court of Appeals. Judges are elected to six-year terms.

REPORTING ENTITY AND SERVICES

All governmental departments, agencies, institutions, commissions, public authorities, and other governmental
organizations for which the County has significant financial accountability, are included in this ACFR for financial
reporting purposes. Financial accountability is determined by the County’s ability to appoint a voting majority of the
Board, or financial interdependence.

The County provides general governmental services to its citizens, to include: public and health assistance,
community related services, civil and criminal justice systems, road and bridge maintenance, sewer and waterline
construction and maintenance, and other general legislative and administrative support services. The County also
operates and maintains the water supply and wastewater treatment systems. A further discussion of the reporting
entity and its services may be found in Note 2 of the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

Lucas County is located on the western coast of Lake Erie, strategically situated in an important trade area
comprised of 14 counties in northwestern Ohio and southeastern Michigan. Advantageously located in the Midwest
at key highways, railways, and waterways, our country’s most-traveled interstates — 1-80/90 and I-75 — are located
within Lucas County and provide a key transportation connector to more than 93 million people in a one-day drive.

Lucas County has a population of 425,484, according to July 2023 U.S. Census Bureau estimates, and is in the
Toledo Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport, which provides commercial
air service and serves as a vital cargo hub, is located in Lucas County, and Detroit Metropolitan Wayne County
Airport is less than an hour away.

Lucas County’s economy has been historically associated with automotive, glass, and manufacturing. Those
industries remain key economic drivers, but the county’s economy has also become increasingly diversified,
particularly in the areas of solar and alternative energy, transportation and logistics, and medical services.

Three Fortune 500 companies are headquartered in Lucas County: Owens Corning, which develops and
manufactures insulation, roofing, and fiberglass components; Dana, Inc., which supplies drivetrain and propulsion
systems for the automotive industry; and The Andersons, Inc., an agricultural company among the country’s largest
grain traders. Libbey Inc., the glass and glass product manufacturing company, is also headquartered in Lucas
County, as is ProMedica, a healthcare system that functions as the region’s largest employer. SSOE, a global
architecture and engineering firm, also has its headquarters in Lucas County. In addition, Stellantis (formerly Fiat
Chrysler Automobiles) and General Motors (GM) continue to support the regional economy with manufacturing
facilities in Lucas County.

Site Selection Magazine, a leading publication in the economic development industry, has recognized the Toledo
MSA, comprised of Lucas, Wood, and Ottawa counties, for its robust performance in development. As part of its
annual Governor’s Cup Awards, the magazine ranked the region in the top ten for mid-size markets for development
activity in 2021. Our region’s continued development has contributed to the remarkable ranking of the State of Ohio,
which placed third in the overall number of projects for both 2022 and 2023, according to the latest numbers
published in March 2024.

The success of any local economy relies on regional cooperation that transcends county and governmental borders
to reveal particular regional competitive advantages. To enhance our global competitiveness, Lucas County joined
Wood and Ottawa counties in 2020 to update to the Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) for
our region, which was initially passed in 2014. The Toledo Region CEDS provides our community with an effective
means to coordinate infrastructure, workforce, business, and other capital investments and policies into a regional
vision and plan of action, whereby projects, activities, and decisions are prioritized and integrated to maximize
economic development outcomes. Significant strides toward achievement of the objectives were included in the
CEDS. Convened by the Bowling Green State University Center for Regional Development, the new CEDS was
adopted in 2021.

The region’s flourishing tourism industry brings about 15.9 million visitors to Lucas County each year, driving $1.5
billion in annual spending. To bolster this, Lucas County redeveloped the former SeaGate Convention Centre in
downtown Toledo and rebranded it in 2022 to the Glass City Center. It has been renovated to include a state-of-
the-art, 16,000-square-foot ballroom that can be divided into three separate rooms. The county also collaborated
with private partners to renovate the former Park Inn Hotel, which opened in 2022 as the new Hilton Garden Inn
and Homewood Suites. The dual-brand, 309-room hotel sits across the street from the newly redeveloped Fort
Industry Square and connects to the convention center. These investments further enhance the ability of our region
to attract conventions, concerts, fundraising events, exhibitions, and sporting events.

In 2020, the downtown Imagination Station, an interactive educational science center, completed a major
expansion. This upgrade, an $11 million investment, features a new 300-seat, 8,200-square-foot KeyBank
Discovery IMAX Theater. These amenities, along with other Lucas County destinations like the Toledo Zoo and
Aquarium, the Toledo Museum of Art, the National Museum of the Great Lakes, the Valentine Theater, and the
Stranahan Theater and Great Hall, continue to draw more visitors to the community.



The international popularity of the Jeep brand’s vehicle lineup and longstanding history in the Toledo region has
fueled the wildly successful Toledo Jeep Fest, a genuine tourist event that continues to build momentum every year
since its inception in 2016. In 2023, the summertime festival brought more than 72,000 people from 40 states,
Canada, Mexico, Brazil, and Columbia to our community, delivering an estimated $5.1 million in economic activity.

Hensville, a $19 million mixed-use entertainment district that opened in spring of 2016, continues to provide
additional shopping, dining, and a concert venue, adding to the downtown Toledo area’s growing desirability and
renaissance as a place to live, work, play, and retire. This private-public partnership complements the nearby
Huntington Center and Fifth Third Field, which are home to the Toledo Walleye, a Class AA professional hockey
team, and the Toledo Mud Hens, a Class AAA professional baseball team, respectively. Together, these venues
attract an estimated one million visitors to downtown annually.

Interest in downtown attractions and a growing number of employers and businesses has led to a surge in the
demand for market-rate housing and commercial space in the downtown area. Two historic early 20" century
warehouses have been converted into market-rate apartments, and the 28-story Tower on the Maumee — the former
Owens Corning headquarters — has been refurbished into 105 residential apartments. The street-level space
beneath the four-story parking garage of the Tower on the Maumee was redeveloped into a mixed use of retail and
dining space.

These investments spurred other downtown redevelopment, including the $70 million renovation of Fort Industry
Square into nearly 100 market-rate apartments and commercial and retail space. Located across from the Hilton
Garden Inn and Homewood Suites, the refurbished 125-year-old, one-block structure began leasing in 2021.

Growth continues to expand into other central neighborhoods. Creating a social innovation district is an initiative
born from the region’s Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy, a priority because of its potential to
increase our region’s resiliency by diversifying our economy. This transformative $53 million project will rejuvenate
38 city blocks in Toledo’s Uptown neighborhood, and a recently secured $20 million RAISE Grant from the U.S.
Department of Transportation will help make that happen. The Jefferson Center, an expansive space built in 1911
and placed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1972, recently underwent a $38 million renovation. Plans
are in the works to turn the Jefferson Center into the Toledo Innovation Center, which will serve as a hub for
entrepreneurs and anchor the new social innovation district. Over $200 million in recent investments from anchor
institutions, corporations, developers, and entrepreneurs have already been made in the innovation district as a
result of this broader initiative.

The appeal of an urban lifestyle also sparked new development across the Maumee River on the city’s east side.
The long-awaited Marina Lofts project, which broke ground in spring of 2019, is fully leased. The $70 million
residential and commercial project along the Maumee River is complemented by the newly opened Glass City
Metropark, which includes an event center, a 1,000-foot long ice-skating ribbon that converts to a children’s water
splash area in the summer, three nature-themed playgrounds, a plaza, and all-purpose trails for walking and biking.

The Metroparks are a gem of the greater Toledo area, boasting more than 12,000 acres of protected land, 200
miles of trails, and 19 parks, with more in development. The parks system is currently constructing the Glass City
Riverwalk, a transformative project that will connect communities on both sides of the Maumee River through more
than five miles of new mixed-use trails and paths. The project will restore more than 90 acres of industrial or vacant
land to natural space along the riverfront and will provide access to boating and kayaking, a rock-climbing area,
interactive water attractions, urban camping, and winter ice skating.

Automotive manufacturing remains steadfast in Lucas County. Stellantis expanded production of the next-
generation Jeep Wrangler model in 2017 to substantial fanfare. Consistent robust demand for the sports-utility
vehicle spurred the addition of a diesel version in 2020 and a plug-in gasoline-electric hybrid in 2021. Stellantis also
renovated and retooled a portion of the Toledo Assembly Complex to produce the highly anticipated Jeep Gladiator,
the first pickup truck for the brand since 1992, which was named the North American Truck of the Year at the North
American International Auto Show in Detroit in 2020. Stellantis then acquired the former Textileather brownfield
adjacent to its Toledo North Assembly Plant, investing $23 million for the construction of a 300,000-square-foot
addition to the facility to respond to the robust demand for Wrangler and Gladiator customization.



The global appeal of these vehicles has created opportunities for several tier-one auto suppliers to operate their
own facilities in Lucas County, adding to the overall regional workforce. In addition to the Dana Inc. and Detroit
Manufacturing Systems plants that have employed over 400 people at the Overland Industrial Park since 2017, HP
Pelzer Automotive Systems, Inc. opened a new facility in Oregon, Ohio with a total fixed asset investment of over
$39 million. Pelzer, an engineer and manufacturer of acoustic and thermal components for the automotive systems,
opened in 2020, employing 79 full-time individuals.

Though the healthcare and automotive industries are fundamental to the local economy, the community has taken
great strides toward diversification. In East Toledo, Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. located its first hot briquetted iron
production plant at the Ironville Terminal. This project added 160 permanent jobs and represents a $700 million
investment in the Toledo Region. In South Toledo, a $25 million investment transformed the brownfield site of a
former mall into an Amazon distribution facility, employing 400 people.

Robust economic growth in Lucas County has led to the need for developing more “Class A” industrial space.
Private investors and the county collaborated with Regional Growth Partnership and JobsOhio to develop industrial
land across from the Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport in western Lucas County. Land Air Commerce Center
invested $7 million to redevelop more than 200 acres. JobsOho provided a $750,000 grant and a $2 million loan for
the construction of infrastructure at the site. Clarios, a manufacturer of automotive batteries, leased the 107,000-
square-foot pre-cast concrete “Class A” space and now stores and distributes its products to customers throughout
the United States. Three industrial facilities more than 100,000 square feet each are located within the park.

MAJOR COUNTY INITIATIVES

Lucas County continues to provide a variety of services required to meet the needs of its constituents in the most
cost-effective and efficient manner possible. The following activities have led to significant economic progress and
have been made possible by Lucas County residents and their government:

WorkReady Lucas County:

Launched in 2014, the WorkReady Lucas County initiative utilizes a comprehensive assessment called
WorkKeys to measure the skills of the region’s workforce. In September 2018, the program reached a major
milestone, earning the status as a Certified Work Ready Community for Lucas County. The designation
was issued by ACT Inc., the company widely known for their college readiness assessments. The
certification illustrates not only the quality of workers in the region, but support for a skilled workforce from
hundreds of area businesses.

WorkReady Lucas County quantifies and improves the skill levels of the local workforce through a
standardized skill credential that measures, identifies, and closes skills gaps between job seekers and
available employment opportunities in the region. Participants in the program earn the ACT National Career
Readiness Certificate (NCRC), a stackable and transferrable credential used by job seekers to demonstrate
their job skills to employers across the United States.

In 2023, Lucas County achieved continued recognition as an ACT Work Ready Community. Lucas County
is one of only three counties in Ohio to achieve the national certificate. This achievement reaffirms Lucas
County’s commitment to strengthening the region’s workforce, positioning job seekers, working learners,
and employers for continued success.

Modernizing Lucas County services:

In September 2021, The Lucas County Commissioners cut the ribbon to their new Shared Services Building
at 3737 W. Sylvania Ave., keeping a promise to consolidate essential social services and workforce
development offerings under one roof. The Lucas County Economic Development Corp. acquired the
former Medical Mutual of Ohio complex in West Toledo in 2020 and redesigned and remodeled the space
to house Lucas County Job and Family Services, the county Child Support Enforcement Agency,
OhioMeansJobs Lucas County, and the county’s Planning and Development Department. It also serves as
the new home for the Lucas County Board of Elections and the Early Vote Center, providing additional
convenience to county residents.



The new Shared Services Building features a bright lobby staffed with people who can help clients access
the services they need. There is a resource room for teens and adults to use computers to look for jobs or
participate in workforce development programs, as well as a phone bank for people to use to check the
status of their cases. The Toledo Area Regional Transit Authority also ensured direct service to 3737
Sylvania Ave. through routes 2 and 19 so clients can easily access the new hub.

Construction is underway on a new Lucas County Canine Care and Control (LC4) facility that will provide
the Lucas County Community, LC4 staff, and the dogs housed there with the best environment possible.
Located on the developing Monroe Street corridor, the new structure will occupy more than 33,000 square
feet, replacing the 22,000-square-foot building the department currently inhabits. The new state-of-the-art,
ventilated facility will have indoor kennel space to accommodate at least 140 dogs and will provide multiple
outdoor play areas for the enrichment of the dogs. It is slated to open in 2025.

In November 2023, Lucas County broke ground on a new downtown pre-trial detention center. The
approximately 217,000-square-foot new facility is anticipated to have 430 beds and will offer increased
security and operational savings to taxpayers. The new jail will follow a modern, direct supervision model
and will include a 30-bed behavioral health unit. It is expected to be ready for occupancy in 2027.

Lucas County is also constructing a new, 60,000-square-foot Materials Recovery Facility (MRF), a modern
operation that receives, separates, and prepares recyclables to be sold to an end buyer. In Lucas County,
a single-stream MRF will drastically reduce the countywide carbon footprint. Recycling materials that are
put out at the curb or collected at drop-off locations currently are transferred 90 miles away to Oberlin to be
sorted. With the new MRF, Lucas County will take in recyclables, sort and process the materials, and
prepare materials for shipment all in one location. Initial site-clearing and remediation work is expected to
begin soon, with construction following in 2025. The new facility is slated to be operational in 2026.

Glass City Center:

In August, 2022, the Lucas County Commissioners joined construction partners and business and
community leaders to celebrate the grand opening of the renovated Glass City Center and brand-new
ballroom in downtown Toledo. The ballroom is 16,000 square feet, can seat over 900 people for events,
and includes a large outdoor terrace overlooking Monroe Street with sweeping views of Fifth Third Field
and the Hensville entertainment district.

The 75,000-square-foot exhibit hall on the main floor of the center has been refreshed with new lighting and
paint, and conference rooms on the upper floors have been renovated with new lighting, carpeting, paint,
and wireless capabilities. In partnership with The Arts Commission, the Commissioners integrated $1.5
million in art throughout the new Glass City Center, building upon our communities’ strong tradition of art in
public places.

The convention center connects to the newly renovated Hilton Garden Inn and Homewood Suites, another
public-private partnership spearheaded by the Board of Lucas County Commissioners as part of Toledo’s
continued revitalization. The project added more than 300 luxury accommodations to the downtown.
Combined with the Renaissance hotel just a few blocks down the street, Toledo now has over 550 first-
class hotel rooms to support the flourishing regional tourism industry. The hotel features a new restaurant,
NAPA Kitchen + Bar Toledo, and a new “Pocket Park” located at the corner of Jefferson and Summit
features an attractive green space and public art installation.

ARPA investments:

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress enacted the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), which
was signed into law on March 11, 2021. A key feature of ARPA was the inclusion of State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds (SLFRF). The SLFRF program provided an infusion of funds directly to state, territorial,
local, and Tribal governments to facilitate a robust recovery from the public health and economic impacts
of the public health emergency.



With its $83 million allocation, Lucas County made strategic investments in diverse initiatives including
vaccination programs, pre-kindergarten early learning services, and support for the tourism and hospitality
industry. Lucas County has also made substantial investments in badly needed affordable housing projects
throughout the county, including family, senior, workforce, and permanent supportive housing
developments.

Community-based grant awards:

The Board of Lucas County Commissioners are proud to partner directly with community agencies that
seek to stabilize families and children, keep neighborhoods safe, protect the environment, create well-
paying jobs for residents, create economic development opportunities for businesses, and provide access
to educational opportunities for residents. In 2024, the Commissioners provided more than $1 million in
grants to community-based nonprofits.

Environmental responsibility:

The Commissioners are steadfast in their advocacy for the health of Lake Erie, which is critical not only as
a primary source of fresh, potable water for the entire region, but also as an economic development driver.
It offers a large source of fresh water to industry and serves as a tourism and hospitality destination for the
entire coastline. For nearly a decade, the lake has suffered toxic algae outbreaks nearly every summer as
a result of phosphorus runoff into the Maumee watershed.

In April 2019, the Commissioners joined the Chicago-based Environmental Law & Policy Center as co-
plaintiffs in a federal lawsuit filed against the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to force the Ohio EPA
to comply with the Clean Water Act and seek solutions to reduce agriculture pollution entering Lake Erie.
After years of litigation, the Commissioners, the U.S. EPA, and the Ohio EPA agreed to a consent decree
under which the Ohio EPA was obligated to prepare a remedial plan and to submit that plan to the U.S.
EPA for approval.

The plan that was submitted and ultimately approved in 2023 lacks enforceable limits on the amount of
dissolved reactive phosphorous entering the western basin of Lake Erie, a major driver of harmful algal
blooms. The Commissioners believe Lake Erie will not see marked improvement under the EPA’s plan
because it does not effectively limit these pollutants or hold CAFOs accountable.

The Commissioners in March 2024 joined more than a dozen organizations in filing an amicus brief in
support of Food & Water Watch in its federal lawsuit against the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency in
an effort to force the agency to regulate industrial livestock facilities that pollute our waterways. The amicus
brief urges the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals to find that the EPA’s rejection of Food & Water Watch’s
petition for updated rules for industrial livestock operations was arbitrary and capricious.

Strategic plan:

The Commissioners’ first-ever strategic plan will take shape in 2024, outlining clear goals and priorities for
Lucas County operations. The plan will not only allow for streamlined communication between county
departments and with the public, but will unite employees around an inclusive shared vision for Lucas
County and its future.

ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

The County’s day-to-day accounting records are maintained on a basis other than GAAP. For financial reporting
purposes, the accounting records for all governmental funds are converted to the modified accrual basis, whereby
revenues are recognized, when measurable and available within the business cycle (within 60 days after year end),
and expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred. The accounting records for the
proprietary funds and government-wide financial statements are converted to the accrual basis, whereby revenues
are recognized when measurable and earned, and expenses are recognized as incurred.

A further discussion of the three methods of accounting (non-GAAP, modified accrual, and accrual) and a
reconciliation of budget basis to GAAP basis of accounting may be found in Notes 2 and 13, respectively, of the
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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BUDGETARY CONTROLS

Under Ohio law, the Lucas County Board of Commissioners must adopt an appropriations budget by January 1 of
each year, or adopt a temporary appropriation measure with final passage of a permanent budget by April 1. No
expenditure can be made from any budgetary account without the Certificate of the County Auditor certifying that
funds are available or in the process of collection. When a purchase order is issued or a contract is entered into by
any County department or agency, the County Auditor encumbers the necessary funds to pay for the expenditure.
Contracts or purchase orders are invalid under Ohio law if sufficient funds are not available to permit the County
Auditor to certify the transaction. A further discussion of the budgetary accounting system and its controls may be
found in Note 2 of the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.

The County Auditor makes monthly financial reports available to the Board of Commissioners and to all departments
and agencies, indicating the monthly and year-to-date expenditures, encumbrances, and cash balances, as well as
unencumbered balances by fund, department and account.

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING AND
THE DISTINGUISHED BUDGET PRESENTATION AWARD

Lucas County is committed to maintaining a strong fiscal environment. To achieve this end, it is the policy of the
Board of County Commissioners to maintain a minimum of 15% of the available general fund revenue as an
unappropriated cash reserve. This reserve is designated as a budget stabilization tool to assist in alleviating
financial stress in the event of an economic downturn and to promote a favorable bond rating for the County. In
2023, the County’s uninsured outstanding general obligation bonds were rated “Aa2” by Moody’s Investors Service,
and “AA” by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services. The County maintains significant leeway within the direct debt
limitation for additional general obligation debt.

The Lucas County Office of Management and Budget prepares a five-year budget and plan, for which it has received
a Distinguished Budget Presentation Award from the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) for the last
twenty-four years (2000—2023). The Distinguished Budget Presentation Award is valid for a period of one year.
The County believes that the current budget presentation meets GFOA guidelines and continues to submit its
budget to the GFOA to determine current eligibility for this award. The County’s budget presentation is located
online at www.co.lucas.oh.us/omb.

The County also prepares a Capital Improvements Plan, a flexible document that is used to prioritize, rank, and
determine the annual allocation of available capital improvement funds. Rankings may move up or down within the
plan, based on changing needs, assessments, and additional project information. It is the policy of the Board of
County Commissioners to allocate 8% of estimated general fund revenue for capital improvement projects annually,
while also to maintain an 8% unappropriated capital improvement reserve for unanticipated capital needs.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control, designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the assets of the County are protected from loss, theft, or misuse.
Management also ensures that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial state-
ments in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The design of the internal control also
recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of
costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

As a recipient of federal and state financial assistance, the County is responsible for ensuring not only that adequate
internal controls are in place, but also that the County has complied with applicable laws and regulations related to
those programs. This internal control is subject to periodic evaluation by management.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT

As part of the annual preparation of a Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, the County conducts an annual
independent audit of its basic financial statements. Based in part on observations of the independent auditors, the
County continually strengthens the accounting, budgetary, and internal control of its financial and operational
systems. The Ohio Auditor of State’s office audited the financial statements of the County. The unmodified opinion
of the Ohio Auditor of State with respect to the basic financial statements of the County as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2023 is included on pages 13 - 16 of this report.
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EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

The County prepared its first ACFR in 1984 in accordance with the program guidelines for the Certificate of Achieve-
ment for Excellence in Financial Reporting (the Certificate), awarded by the GFOA. Each annual report must also
satisfy GAAP and disclose applicable legal compliance requirements. The County has been awarded the Certificate
for 39 straight years, 1984-2022. The Certificate is valid for a period of one year. We believe that our current report
continues to conform to the stringent guidelines and requirements of the program, and the County continues to
submit a ACFR to the GFOA to determine its current eligibility.

The County also prepares a Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) in accordance with GFOA guidelines. The
County has been awarded a GFOA certificate for its PAFR for 25 straight years, 1997-2022. The PAFR Certificate
is valid for a period of one year, and the County believes that the current PAFR meets GFOA guidelines and is
submitting it to the GFOA to determine current eligibility for this award.

Both of the financial reports on the previous page can be located on the County’s Auditor's website at:
www.co.lucas.oh.us/auditor under the “Finance” button.
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Metroparks Toledo Ice Skating

Looking for a place to lace up your skates and enjoy nature in her winter beauty?

The Ribbon is a 1,000 foot loop trail featuring rolling hills and soft curves for a
uniquely Metroparks winter ice skating experience. The Ribbon is connected to
a 5,000 square foot skating pond that offers a traditional ice rink experience for
beginners and a series of special events and programs.

Ice on Pearson Lake and Mallard Lake at Oak Openings Preserve are also open for
skating when ice is at least 6 inches thick.
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Financial Section

Metroparks Toledo Backpacking

Do you dream of adventures on the trail? There's a lot that goes into a safe
and successful backpacking trip. Metroparks outdoor skills staff offer short
informational programs with practice hikes, beginner friendly overnight trips,
and intermediate to advanced multi-day treks to prepare you for a safe and
environmentally friendly outdoor experience.






OHIO AUDITOR OF STATE

ContactUs@ohioauditor.gov

KE IT H FAB E R 800-282-0370

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Lucas County
One Government Center, Suite 600
Toledo, Ohio 43604

To the Board of County Commissioners:
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of Lucas County, Ohio (the County), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the County, as of December 31, 2023, and the
respective changes in financial position and where applicable, cash flows, thereof and the respective
budgetary comparisons for the General, Mental Health and Recovery, Children Services Board, and Board
of Developmental Disabilities funds for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc., Preferred Properties,
Inc. and Affiliates, Toledo Arena Sports, Inc., Lucas County Land Reutilization Corporation, and Lucas
County Transportation Improvement District, which represent 49 percent, 71 percent, and 75 percent,
respectively, of the assets, net position, and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component
units as of December 31, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, thereof for the year then
ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc., Preferred
Properties, Inc. and Affiliates, Toledo Arena Sports, Inc., Lucas County Land Reutilization Corporation, and
Lucas County Transportation Improvement District, is based solely on the report of other auditors.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the County, and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
The financial statements of Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc., Preferred Properties, Inc. and Affiliates,
and Toledo Arena Sports, Inc., were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

Efficient . Effective . Transparent
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Lucas County
Independent Auditor’s Report
Page 2

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the County restated beginning fund balances to properly
report prior year revenue in the correct funds. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we
e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the County’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and schedules of net pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities and
pension and other post-employment benefit contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the County’s basic financial statements. The financial section’s combining statements, individual
fund statements and schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required
part of the basic financial statements.

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the financial section’s combining
statements, individual fund statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual financial report. The other
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover
the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information
exists, we are required to describe it in our report.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 31, 2024,
on our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
County's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the County's internal control
over financial reporting and compliance.

Nl

Keith Faber
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio

May 31, 2024
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

The management’s discussion and analysis of the financial performance of Lucas County, Ohio (the
“County”) provides an overall review of the County’s financial activities for the year ended December 31,
2023. The intent of this discussion and analysis is to look at the County’s financial performance as a whole.
Readers should also review the transmittal letter and the basic financial statements to enhance their
understanding of the County’s financial performance.

Financial Highlights
Key financial highlights for 2023 are as follows:

e The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the County exceeded its liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources at the close of the year ended December 31, 2023, by $711,263 thousand (net
position).

e The County’s total net position increased by $46,010 thousand or 6.92%, from December 31, 2022.

e At the end of the current year, the County’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund
balance of $439,867 thousand, an increase of $43,501 thousand from the prior year. Of this
amount, $53,856 thousand is available for spending on behalf of its citizens.

e At the end of the current year, the unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $54,459
thousand. This amount represents 35.82% of total general fund expenditures in 2023.

e The County’s total long-term liabilities (including bonds and loans) increased by $230,763
thousand, primarily due to the increase of the County’s net pension liability. The County’s net
pension/OPEB liability/asset is discussed in Note 11 and Note 12, respectively, and the net pension
is reported in Note 10.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements and notes to those statements. These
statements are organized so the reader can understand Lucas County as a financial whole or as an entire
operating entity. The statements also provide an increasingly detailed look at specific financial conditions.

The County’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) County-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. In addition to the basic
financial statements, this report also contains statistical information that may assist in evaluating the
County’s demographics and potential economic activity.

Component units, legally separate organizations for which the County is financially accountable, are
discretely presented for the Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc., Lucas County Land Reutilization
Corporation, Lucas County Transportation Improvement District, Preferred Properties, Inc. and Affiliates,
Toledo Arena Sports, Inc., Toledo-Lucas County Convention and Visitors Bureau, and Lucas County
Economic Development Corporation. Separate statements are prepared for each of these component
units. To obtain copies of their statements, refer to Note 2.A of this document.

County-Wide Financial Statements

The County-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
County’s finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
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Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

The statement of net position presents information on all of the County’s assets plus deferred outflows of
resources and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between these reported as
net position. The statement of activities presents information showing how the County’s net position
changed during the current year. These statements include all assets and deferred outflows of resources
and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting similar to the
accounting used by private sector companies. This basis of accounting will take into account all of the
current year's revenues and expenses regardless of when the cash is received or paid. These two
statements report the County’s net position and the change in that position. The change in net position is
important because it tells the reader whether, for the County as a whole, the financial position of the County
has improved or diminished. However, in evaluating the overall position of the County, non-financial
information such as changes in the County’s tax base and the condition of County capital assets will also
need to be evaluated.

In the statement of net position and the statement of activities, the County is divided into three kinds of
activities:

e Governmental Activities - Most of the County’s services are reported in this category including
public safety, social services programs, administration, and all departments with the exception of
the Water, Sewer and Wastewater Treatment funds.

¢ Business-type Activities - These services have a charge based upon the amount of usage. The
County charges fees to recoup the cost of the entire operation of its Water, Sewer and Wastewater
Treatment Plants, as well as all capital expenses associated with these facilities.

e Component Units - The County includes financial data of the various discretely presented
component units. The County’s component units are detailed on the previous page. The component
units are separate and may buy, sell, lease, and mortgage property in their own names and can
sue or be sued in their own names. More information on the component units, including contact
information on how to obtain access to their individual financial statements, can be found in Note
2.A to the Basic Financial Statements.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objects. The County, like other state and local governments, uses fund
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds
of the County can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds. Fund financial statements provide detailed information about the County’s major funds. Based on
restriction on the use of monies, the County has established many funds which account for the multitude of
services provided to County residents. However, these fund financial statements focus on the County’s
most significant funds. In the case of Lucas County, the major funds are the General Fund, Mental Health
and Recovery Fund, Children Services Board Fund, Board of Developmental Disabilities Fund, Debt
Service Fund, Capital Improvements Fund, Water Supply System Fund, Sewer System Fund, and
Wastewater Treatment Fund.

Governmental Funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on current sources and uses of
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year. Such
information may be useful in evaluating government’s near-term financing requirements.
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Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than the County-wide financial statements, it is useful
to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the County’s near-term financial decisions. Both the governmental fund
balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and
governmental activities.

The County maintains several individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances for the major funds, which were identified earlier. Data from the other
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of
these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this
report.

The County adopts an annual appropriated budget for all funds requiring a legally adopted budget. The
basic financial statements present budgetary comparison statements for the General Fund and the major
special revenue funds.

Proprietary Funds: The County maintains two different types of proprietary funds: enterprise funds and
internal service funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The County uses enterprise funds to account for its
water supply, sewer and wastewater treatment operations. Internal service funds are an accounting device
used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the County’s various functions. The County uses
internal service funds to account for its self-insurance programs, vehicle maintenance, telecommunications,
central supplies, and workers’ compensation programs. Because these services predominantly benefit
governmental rather than business-type functions, they have primarily been included with governmental
activities in the County-wide financial statements.

Fiduciary Funds: Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
of the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because
the resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs. The County’s
fiduciary funds are custodial funds.

Component Units: The County has seven discretely presented component units as described in Note 2.A
to the financial statements.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the County-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information (RSI): The RSI contains information regarding the County’s
proportionate share of the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System’s (OPERS) net pension liability/net
pension asset and net OPEB liability/asset and the County’s schedule of contributions to OPERS for
pension and OPEB.

Other Information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents combining and individual fund statements and schedules.

-19-



LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

County-Wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a County’s financial position. The
County’s assets plus deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources
by $711,263 thousand ($591,566 thousand in governmental activities and $119,696 thousand in business-
type activities) as of December 31, 2023. This is an increase of $44,403 thousand or 8.12% for
governmental activities and an increase of $1,607 thousand, or 1.36%, for business-type activities.

The table below provides a summary of the County’s net position at December 31, 2023 and 2022. Certain
amounts for 2022 have been restated as described in Note 3.A.

Net Position
(In Thousands)
Restated
Govemmental  Govemmental ~ Businesstype  Business-type Restated
Activities Activities Activities Activities Total Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Assets
Current and other assets $ 774237  $ 795055 $ 51978 § 59,041 $ 826215 § 854,096
Capital assets, net 361,429 354,199 111,907 109,531 473,336 463,730
Total assets 1,135,666 1,149,254 163,885 168,572 1,299,551 1,317,826
Deferred outflows 151,004 42,582 4,335 1,248 155,339 43,830
Liabilities
Current and other liabilities 80,757 105,501 11,684 16,310 92,441 121,811
Long-term liabilities 486,763 263,804 36,498 30,681 523,261 294,485
Total liabilities 567,520 369,305 48,182 46,991 615,702 416,296
Deferred inflows 127,584 275,368 342 4,739 127,926 280,107
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 225,600 230,538 76,821 69,950 302,421 300,488
Restricted 224,339 205,441 69 - 224,408 205,441
Unrestricted 141,627 111,184 42,806 48,140 184,433 159,324
Total net position $ 591,566 % 547,163 $ 1196% $ 118090 § 711,262 § 665,253

The County’s current and other assets decreased $27,881 thousand. This change is primarily due to a
decrease in the County’s net OPEB asset, which is outside of the County’s control. The County makes its
required contributions to the pension systems. Additionally, the County’s account receivable decreased due
to the County expecting to collect less suite rental revenue in January.

Capital assets, net increased as capital assets acquired during 2023 exceeded depreciation/amortization
expense. Capital assets increased as the County continued many of its ongoing construction projects.

Deferred outflows increased primarily due to changes in the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System

(OPERS) calculation of the retirement system’s net pension liability and net OPEB asset. The County
reports its proportionate share of these liabilities in the financial statements.
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Current and other liabilities decreased $29,370 thousand, or 24.11%, from 2022. The decrease was
primarily in unearned revenue due to the County spending the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) money
it received in prior years.

Long-term liabilities increased approximately $228,776 thousand primarily in the area of net pension
liability. The net pension liability increased $226,975 thousand or 243.87%, deferred outflow of resources
related to pension increased $91,783 thousand or 233.81% and deferred inflows of resources related to
pension decreased $117,862 thousand or 98.50%. These changes were the result of changes at the
pension system level for Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS). Primarily, net investment
income on investments at the pension system were negative for the 2022 measurement date that are used
for the 2023 reporting. This caused a large decrease in their respective fiduciary net positions which was
a drastic change from the previous year’s large positive investment returns.

The net pension liability/asset is reported pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an Amendment of GASB Statement 27.”
The net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability is reported pursuant to GASB Statement 75,
“Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.” For reasons
discussed below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a clearer understanding of the
County’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to pension and OPEB, the net pension
liability, and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and subtracting deferred outflows related to
pension and OPEB and the net pension asset.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for
pensions (GASB 27) and postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This
approach limited pension and OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not
be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension liability/asset or net OPEB liability/asset. GASB 68 and
GASB 75 take an earnings approach to pension and OPEB accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s
statewide pension/OPEB plans and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in
order to properly understand the information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability/asset and the net OPEB liability to equal the
County’s proportionate share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive
employees’ past service.
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits.

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment
exchange” — that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the
promise of a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of
this promise is a present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee and
should accordingly be reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the
exchange. However, the County is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these
liabilities. In Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both
employer and employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires
action of both Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also
determined by State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, the retirement systems
to provide health care to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the
employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.
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The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited
not by contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal
limit to its contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded
liability of the pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen
the moral obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment
exchange with notice as to the law. The retirement system is responsible for the administration of the
pension and OPEB plans.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick
and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment
schedule for the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits,
contribution rates, and return on investments affect the balance of these liabilities but are outside the control
of the local government. In the event that contributions, investment returns, and other changes are
insufficient to keep up with required payments, State statute does not assign/identify the responsible party
for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability
are satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability section of the statement
of net position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the County’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of
accounting include an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share
of each plan’s change in net pension liability/asset and net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for
as deferred inflows/outflows.

Deferred inflows related to pension decreased as discussed previously.

As of December 31, 2023, the County is able to report positive net position in both the governmental and
business-type activities of $591,566 thousand and $119,696 thousand, respectively. The table on the next
page provides a summary of the changes in net position for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

By far, the largest portion of the County’s net position (42.52%) reflects its investment in capital assets,
which includes land, construction in progress, buildings, machinery and equipment, infrastructure, and
intangible right to use assets less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.
The County uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not
available for future spending. Although the County’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of
related debt, the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital
assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the County’s net position (31.55%) represents resources that are subject to
restrictions on how they can be used. The primary increase in restricted net position was in the area of
community development projects which saw an increase in $16,604 thousand from 2022. Community
development projects consists of grants used to improve the community throughout the County.

The remaining balance of unrestricted net position is a balance of $184,433 thousand (25.93%).
Unrestricted net position improved from a balance of $159,324 thousand at the end of 2022 to a balance
of $184,433 thousand at the end of 2023. This increase results from many factors including the County
making its required debt payments to reduce long-term debt, spending unused ARPA money to improve
the community, and investing in the community through capital improvement projects.
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The table below shows the changes in net position for years 2023 and 2022.

Revenues

Programrevenues:
Charges for services and sales

Operating grants and contributions

Capital grants and contributions
Total program revenues
CGeneral revenues:

Taxes
Investment income

Increase (decrease) in fair value

of investments

Grants, contributions and charges not

restricted to specific programs
Other
Total general revenues

Total revenues

Expenses

Program expenses:
Legislative and executive
Judicial system
Public safety
Public works
Health
Hurman services
Conservation and recreation
Interest and fiscal charges
Water supply system
Wastewater treatment
Sewer system
Sanitary engineer
Salid waste
Parking facilities

Total expenses

Change in net position before
transfers

Transfers

Change in net position
Net position at

beginning of year
Net position at end of year

Change in Net Position

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

(In Thousands)
Govemmental Governmental  Business-type  Business-type
Activities Activities Activities Activities Total Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

$ 5660 $ 5929 $§ A% $ RE3 $ 9647 § 0 RH2
204,113 203,051 4,834 1,766 208,47 204,817
2404 12,325 672 4,733 3,076 17,058
263,207 274,655 40,463 40,162 303,670 314,817
255433 253,962 - - 255433 253,962
16,404 5,542 - - 16,404 5,542
11,563 (19,600) - - 11,563 (19,600)
41,054 56,056 - - 41,054 56,056
6,036 5,106 5 27 6,041 5,133
330,490 301,066 5 27 330,495 301,093
593,697 575,721 40,468 40,189 634,165 615,910
80,563 69,432 - - 80,563 69,432
74,367 50,007 - - 74,367 50,007
85,614 64,243 - - 85,614 64,243
35133 34,286 - - 35133 34,286
99,859 72,859 - - 99,859 72,859
151,563 144,112 - - 151,563 144,112
14,306 13,821 - - 14,306 13,821
7,969 4,823 - - 7,969 4,823
. - 365 3,038 3,656 3,038
- - 10,044 8829 10,044 8,829
- - 4,484 3,664 4,484 3,664
- - 5,607 4,236 5,607 4,236
- - 14,797 14,284 14,797 14,284
- - 193 14 193 1%
549,374 453,583 38,781 34,245 588,155 487,828
44,323 122,138 1,687 5944 46,010 128,082
80 260 (80) (260) - -
44,403 122,398 1,607 5,684 46,010 128,082
547,163 424,765 118,090 112,406 665,253 537,171
$ 591566 $ 547163 $ 119697 $ 118090 $ 711,263 $§ 665253
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Governmental Activities

Tax revenues account for $255,433 of the $593,697 thousand total revenues for governmental activities,
or 43.02%, of total revenues. Tax revenues increased $1,471 thousand, or 0.58%, from the prior year due
to increases in property tax ($2,330 thousand) revenue.

Operating grants and contributions were the largest component of program revenues accounting for
$204,113 thousand, or 34.38%, of total governmental revenues. Operating grants and contributions
increased $1,062 thousand, or 0.52% due to the County receiving more children’s services grant monies.
Operating grants and contributions supporting human services programs totaled $110,188 thousand, or
53.98%, of total operating grants and contributions.

The County’s direct charges to users of governmental services made up $56,690 thousand, or 9.55%, of
total governmental revenues. These charges are for fees for real estate transfers, fees associated with the
collection of property taxes, fines and forfeitures related to judicial activity, rent, and licenses and permits
associated with building inspections. The revenues from these charges decreased $2,589 thousand, or
4.37% from 2022 due primarily to decreases in fees received for legislative and executive programs.

Overall, expenses of the governmental activities increased $95,791 thousand or 21.12%. This increase is
primarily the result of an increase in pension expense. Pension expense increased $64,689 thousand. This
increase was the result of an increase in expenses incurred at the pension system level for OPERS due to
a decrease in net investment income on investments compared to previous years. Additionally, expenses
increased primarily due to normal wage and benefit increases/decreases.

Health accounts for $99,859 thousand of the $549,374 thousand total expenses for governmental activities,
or 18.18%, of total expenses. Health expenses increased $27,000 thousand, or 37.06%, from the prior
year. The largest health programs are the operations of Mental Health and Recovery and the Board of
Developmental Disabilities.

The largest program is human services, which accounts for $151,563 thousand, which represents 27.59%
of total governmental expenses. This is an increase of $7,451 thousand, or 5.17%, from the prior year.
The largest human services program are the operations of the Children Services Board and ARPA
programs.

Business-Type Activities

The net position for the business-type activities for the County increased by $1,606 thousand from the prior
year. During 2023, program revenues increased $301 thousand, or 0.75%. The increase in program
revenues was primarily due to an increase in operating grants and contribution related to the sewer system.
Overall, expenses of the business-type activities increased $4,537 thousand or 13.25%. This increase is
primarily the result of an increase in pension expense. Pension expense increased $1,724 thousand. This
increase was the result of an increase in expenses incurred at the pension system level for the Ohio Public
Employees Retirement System (OPERS) due to a decrease in net investment income on investments
compared to previous years. The County assesses the rates and charges necessary to provide for these
services. Net position of the business-type activities increased $1,606 thousand in 2023 and increased
$5,684 thousand in 2022.

Financial Analysis of the County’s Funds

The County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.
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Governmental Funds

The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the County’s financing
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the County’s net
resources available for spending at the end of the year.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. At the end of the current year, the unassigned
fund balance of the General Fund was $54,459 thousand while total fund balance was $72,767 thousand,
an increase of 12.04%. As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both
unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance
represents 35.82% of total 2023 General Fund expenditures while total fund balance represents 47.87% of
total 2023 General Fund expenditures. The fund balance of the General Fund reported an increase of
$7,819 thousand from the prior year’s fund balance.

Key factors contributing to the increase in the General Fund follows:

e Total revenues increased $30,798 thousand compared to 2022. In detail, the major increase of
$31,163 thousand occurred in the increase in fair value of investments due to increased interest
rates and improving markets. Additionally, interest revenues increased $10,922 thousand for
similar reasons.

e Expenditures increased $6,607 thousand, or 4.54%. The primary areas of increase was in
legislative and executive, judicial, and public safety operations, increasing $6,016 thousand due to
expenditures related to the annual wages and benefits increases for the County’s employees. All
other expenditure line items remained comparable to the prior year.

e Transfers out to other funds increased $169 thousand from 2022 to 2023.

The fund balance of the Mental Health and Recovery Fund decreased $3,068 thousand to $20,086
thousand. In 2023, real property and other taxes revenue increased by $209 thousand and
intergovernmental revenues increased $1,852 thousand. Expenditures increased $5,148 thousand in 2023
versus 2022. The increase was primarily in operating charges and services expenditures. In 2023, total
expenditures exceeded total revenues by $3,068 thousand. For 2022, total revenues exceeded total
expenditures by $993 thousand.

The fund balance of the Children Services Board Fund decreased $2,897 thousand to $13,675 thousand.
In 2023, property tax revenues increased by 1.24% and intergovernmental revenues increased by 35.22%.
The Children Services Board Fund received more state and federal funding in 2023 versus 2022. Charges
for services revenues decreased $5,357 thousand. Expenditures increased by $4,288 thousand, or 7.78%,
due to increased costs for services provided. For 2023, total expenditures exceeded total revenues by
$2,897 thousand. This was a decrease from 2022 when total expenditures exceeded total revenues by
$1,565 thousand.

The fund balance of the Board of Developmental Disabilities Fund increased $3,668 thousand to $106,745
thousand. In 2023, real property and other taxes revenue increased by 1.25% while intergovernmental
revenues increased by 29.06%. The Board of Developmental Disabilities received increased funding from
federal and state sources. Expenditures increased by $6,940 thousand, or 14.91% due to increased costs
for services provided. For 2023, total revenues exceeded total expenditures by $3,668 thousand. For 2022,
total revenues exceeded expenditures by $7,084 thousand.
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The Debt Service Fund has a fund balance of $15,392 thousand which represents an increase of $2,601
thousand from December 31, 2022’s restated fund balance. The Debt Service Fund received $6,933
thousand of transfers in from the General Fund and the Sewer System Fund combined during 2023. For
2023, total revenues and other financing sources exceeded expenditures and other financing uses by
$2,601 thousand. For 2022, total revenues and other financing sources exceeded total expenditures by
$4,782 thousand.

The Capital Improvements Fund has a fund balance of $103,593 thousand which represents an increase
of $13,807 thousand from December 31, 2022’s restated fund balance. The Capital Improvements Fund
received $38,913 thousand of transfers in from the General Fund during 2023. During 2023, the Capital
Improvements Fund issued $37,455 thousand in notes. For 2023, total revenues and other financing
sources exceeded total expenditures by $13,807 thousand. For 2022, total revenues and other financing
sources exceeded total expenditures by $62,135 thousand.

Enterprise Funds

The County’s enterprise funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial
statements, but in more detail. Net position of the Water Supply System Fund at the end of the year
amounted to $43,168 thousand, the Wastewater Treatment Fund amounted to $16,721 thousand, and the
Sewer System Fund amounted to $40,437 thousand. The total change in net position for these funds
included a decrease of $683 thousand, a decrease of $524 thousand, and an increase of $2,628 thousand,
from restated net positions, respectively.

Operating revenues of the Water Supply System Fund, Wastewater Treatment Fund and Sewer System
Fund were an increase from the prior year of $337 thousand, an increase of $959 thousand and an increase
of $435 thousand, respectively. Operating expenses of the Water Supply System Fund increased $589
thousand, the Wastewater Treatment Fund increased $1,036 thousand and Sewer System Fund increased
$676 thousand. For 2023, the operating loss of the Water Supply System Fund was $1,174 thousand which
represents a decrease of $252 thousand from the operating loss of $922 thousand reported for 2022. For
2023, the operating loss of the Wastewater Treatment Fund was $286 thousand which represents a
decrease of $77 thousand from the operating loss of $209 thousand reported for 2022. For 2023, the
operating loss of the Sewer System Fund was $1,390 thousand which represents a decrease of $241
thousand from the operating loss of $1,149 thousand reported for 2022.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Final budgeted revenues and other financing sources were $210,263 thousand, which is an increase of
$33,862 thousand from the original budget revenues and other financing sources of $176,401 thousand.
Actual revenues were $6,552 thousand more than estimated in the final budget. The County received
$6,161 thousand less in transfers in than in the final budget.

Final budgeted expenditures and other financing uses were $235,345 thousand, or 32.35%, higher than
original budgeted expenditures and other financing uses. Actual expenditures and other financing uses
were $11,272 thousand less than estimated in the final budget. Public safety functions reported the largest
positive variance with the final budget of $4,794 thousand, followed by legislative and executive operations
which reported a positive variance of $4,687 thousand and judicial operations which reported a positive
variance of $890 thousand. The actual expenditures for all other functions remained comparable to the final
budgeted amounts.

In the original budget, the County expected to transfer $20,650 thousand to other funds. This amount was
increased to $73,096 thousand in the final budget. Actual transfers for 2023 were $72,540 thousand.
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The County budgets on a very conservative basis, as can be seen by the positive variance amounts within
the budget.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Capital assets: The County’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of
December 31, 2023, amount to $473,336 thousand (net of accumulated depreciation). The amount of net
position, net investment in capital assets was $302,421 thousand at December 31, 2023. Capital assets
include: land, construction in progress, buildings structures and improvements, furniture, fixtures,
equipment, infrastructure, and intangible right to use assets. The total increase in the County’s capital
assets for the current year was 2.51% (a 2.62% increase for governmental activities and a 2.17% increase
for business-type activities.)

During 2023, for governmental activities, the County expended approximately $24,031 thousand on
construction projects that were in progress at year end. These projects include infrastructure projects and
buildings supporting legislative, executive and judicial operations. The County completed projects of
approximately $35,791 thousand.

Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note 8.

Long-term debt: At the end of the current year, the County had total bonded debt outstanding of $130,295
thousand. Of this total, $126,985 thousand is general obligation bonds backed by the full faith and credit
of the County; $2,747 thousand is special assessment bonds for which the County is liable in the event of
default by the property owners subject to the assessment; and $563 thousand is revenue bonds.
Repayment of revenue bonds is secured by the revenue generated by the project. The County also had
outstanding Ohio Water Development Authority (OWDA) loans of $20,329 thousand and Ohio Public Works
Commission (OPWC) loans of $8,498 thousand. The County also has $3,102 thousand in leases payable
and $1,437 thousand in subscription-based information technology agreements (SBITAs) payable.

In addition to the long-term debt above, the County has $46,043 thousand in short-term construction notes
outstanding. These notes bear interest rates of 6.25% ($37,455 thousand) and 4.375% ($8,490 thousand)
which mature on October 12, 2024 and October 14, 2024, respectively.

The County maintained 'AA' and 'Aa2' ratings from both Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s, respectively,
for general obligation debt. The ratings for the baseball stadium bonds were maintained at ‘A+’ and ‘Aa3’
by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, respectively.

The County’s total bonded debt decreased $4,569 thousand during the year. State statutes limit the amount
of unvoted general obligation debt the County may issue to 1% of its total assessed valuation. Additional
information on the County’s long-term debt can be found in Note 10, information on the short-term notes
can be found in Note 9, and information on the legal debt margin is located in Table 15 of the statistical
section.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The 2023 average unemployment for the County was 4.2%, which is a decrease from 4.4% for 2022. For
2023, the state average unemployment rate was 3.5%, and the national average was 3.6%.

Inflationary trends in the region compare favorably to national indices. These factors were considered in
preparing the County’s budget for the 2024 year.

At the end of the current year, fund balance in the General Fund, on the modified accrual basis of
accounting, was $72,767 thousand as compared to $64,948 thousand at December 31, 2022.
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Request for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Lucas County’s finances for
all those interested in government’s finances. Questions concerning any information
provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to:

Katie Moline, CPA, Lucas County Auditor
One Government Center, Suite 600
Toledo, OH 43604-2255

(419) 213-4406

Michael V. Disalle
Government Center

* The DiSalle Center was completed in
i ' 1983.
!

Il » Approximately 1,500 state, city and

county employees work in the building.

]
‘,l,’ﬂ:,l:

* Construction costs totaled approximately
$61 million.

* The DiSalle Center contains 505,272
square feet of office space.

* The building is 327.5 feet high and has
22 stories.

* The building is named in honor of
Michael V. DiSalle, who was elected
Governor in 1958.

One Government Center, courtesy of the Toledo-Lucas County Public Library
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Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments..........c..c.c......
Cash and cash equivalents

in segregated accounts............coccverereninciieniennns
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
Sales taxes......ocviviiieiie
Real property and other taxes.
Accounts
Special assessments....
Accrued interest.....
Due from other governments..

Materials and supplies inventory...
Prepayments.
Guarantee agreement receivable..
Other assets.
Internal balance
Net pension asset (see Note 11)...
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable capital assets

Depreciable capital assets, net... .
Total capital assets, net............ccccviviiiiniiiiiiee

Total t

Deferred outflows of resources:
Unamortized deferred charges on debt refunding........
Pension (see Note 11)...

OPEB (see Note 12)
Total deferred outflows of resources............ccccueunues

Liabilities:
Accounts payable...........cccoiiiiiiii e
Accrued liabilities
Accrued wages and benefits payable...
Due to other governments...........ccccceeeeieieeneninnnnns
Accrued interest payable..
Notes payable
Payroll withholding payable
Guarantee agreement payable...
Unearned revenue.............cooeveiiciiicicicceieeeene
Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year............cccccoeviiviiicicicccne
Due in more than one year:
Net pension liability (see Note 11)...........c.ccco.....
Net OPEB liability (see Note 12)
Other amounts due in more than one year..
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Property taxes
Pension (see Note 11)..

OPEB (see Note 12).....
Total deferred inflows of resources.....

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets..........cc.ccoceveveveenne
Restricted for:

Debt Service.........coeiviiiiiiiiccee e
Capital ProJectS. .......coovrerereriieere e
Legislative and executive operations....
Judicial operations
Public safety programs.
Public works projects....
Health programs............ccocevvviiiiiiiiiiieccne
Human services programs,
Conservation and recreation programs
Community development projects..
Pension
Unrestricted. .. ...oovieeiiieeee e
Total net position

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

$ 476,803,485 $ 45,521,913 $ 522,325,398 $ 75,244,505
5,026,735 - 5,026,735 -
31,815,658 - 31,815,658 -
142,261,484 - 142,261,484 -
9,034,920 5,938,039 14,972,959 21,492,240
13,906,627 - 13,906,627 -
2,306,419 - 2,306,419 -
39,822,093 - 39,822,093 -
37,455,000 - 37,455,000 -
943,484 21,924 965,408 437,425
5,975,654 - 5,975,654 792,022
6,975,462 - 6,975,462 -
- - - 4,820,962
(427,089) 427,089 - -
2,337,139 68,982 2,406,121 -
68,890,291 490,986 69,381,277 2,751,553
292,538,911 111,415,821 403,954,732 18,877,961
361,429,202 111,906,807 473,336,009 21,629,514
1,135,666,273 163,884,754 1,299,551,027 124,416,668
4,085,869 - 4,085,869 -
127,283,886 3,754,157 131,038,043 -
19,633,826 581,126 20,214,952 -
151,003,581 4,335,283 155,338,864 -
13,557,701 2,825,457 16,383,158 3,330,418
- - - 4,903,961
6,777,090 226,555 7,003,645 412,995
3,118,941 35,002 3,153,943 1,116,857
1,302,343 82,088 1,384,431 -
37,528,349 8,514,552 46,042,901 -
2,910,123 - 2,910,123 -
6,975,462 - 6,975,462 -
8,586,929 - 8,586,929 15,169,975
24,262,647 2,808,052 27,070,699 534,545
310,873,324 9,175,542 320,048,866 -
6,531,525 192,780 6,724,305 -
145,095,118 24,321,825 169,416,943 47,460,115
567,519,552 48,181,853 615,701,405 72,928,866
123,659,942 - 123,659,942 -
1,525,397 270,742 1,796,139 -
2,398,421 71,132 2,469,553 -
127,583,760 341,874 127,925,634 -
225,600,077 76,821,401 302,421,478 21,629,514
5,360,762 - 5,360,762 -
1,705,021 - 1,705,021 965,348
18,856,581 - 18,856,581 -
6,601,549 - 6,601,549 -
12,222,731 - 12,222,731 -
23,886,671 - 23,886,671 -
120,453,256 - 120,453,256 14,466,984
1,202,462 - 1,202,462 -
1,398,543 - 1,398,543 -
30,314,784 - 30,314,784 -
2,337,139 68,982 2,406,121 -
141,626,966 42,805,927 184,432,893 14,425,956
$ 591,566,542 $ 119,696,310 $ 711,262,852 $ 51,487,802
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Governmental activities:

General government:
Legislative and executive............ccccocviciiiiiiciiennen.
JUICHAL e
Public safety
Public works
Health
Human services...........

Conservation and recreation..
Interest and fiscal charges..

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Water supply system....
Wastewater treatment

SEWET SYSEIM......eiiiiiiiiiiie ettt
Sanitary engineer...
Solid waste

Parking facilities. ...
Total business-type activities................cccccevvercircincnnnn.

Component Units:
Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc
Preferred Properties, Inc & Affiliates Inc.
Toledo Arena Sports, INC.......ccceeviieiieiieiieeiecieeeeees
Lucas County Land Reutilization Corporation.................
Lucas County Transportation Improvement District........
Lucas County Economic Development Corporation.......
Toledo-Lucas County Convention and

Visitors Bureau

Total component units.

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants
Expenses Services and Sales and Contributions and Contributions
80,563,136 $ 22,335,575 $ 7,229,499 $ -
74,367,258 10,264,305 14,136,838 -
85,613,706 12,505,490 13,949,873 -
35,132,968 3,955,025 23,031,521 1,616,361
99,859,360 4,957,284 34,930,188 -
151,563,018 625,914 110,188,001 -
14,306,172 - 646,690 788,300
7,969,060 2,046,428 - -
549,374,678 56,690,021 204,112,610 2,404,661
3,655,792 2,391,100 374,828 202,599
10,043,682 9,070,325 340,000 -
4,483,593 2,658,609 4,062,845 469,703
5,606,827 5,348,677 56,093 -
14,798,233 15,292,981 - -
193,500 195,534 - -
38,781,627 34,957,226 4,833,766 672,302
588,156,305 $ 91,647,247 $ 208,946,376 $ 3,076,963
15,939,940 $ 16,054,496 $ - $ -
2,140,548 1,342,523 420,821 -
11,407,982 11,361,119 - -
10,301,276 1,071,197 6,705,638 -
285,032 - - 944,131
3,453,098 - 1,350,000 -
9,901,778 4,642,371 3,914,634 665,500
53,429,654 $ 34,471,706 $ 12,391,093 $ 1,609,631

General revenues:

Property taxes....
Sales taxes
Other taxes

Grants and entitlements not restricted

to specific programs

Investment @arnings.........ccceoviiiiiiiiiiie s

Increase in fair value of investments

Miscellaneous

Total general revenues....

TRANSTEIS ...ttt

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position

Net position at beginning of year.

Net positon at end of year.

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

(50,998,062) $ - (50,998,062) $ -
(49,966,115) - (49,966,115) -
(59,158,343) - (59,158,343) -
(6,530,061) - (6,530,061) -
(59,971,888) - (59,971,888) -
(40,749,103) - (40,749,103) -
(12,871,182) - (12,871,182) -
(5,922,632) - (5,922,632) -
(286,167,386) - (286,167,386) -
- (687,265) (687,265) -
- (633,357) (633,357) -
- 2,707,564 2,707,564 -
- (202,057) (202,057) -
- 494,748 494,748 -
- 2,034 2,034 -
- 1,681,667 1,681,667 -
(286,167,386) 1,681,667 (284,485,719) -
- - - 114,556
- - - (377,204)
- - - (46,863)
- - - (2,524,441)
- - - 659,099
- - - (2,103,098)
- - - (679,273)
- - - (4,957,224)
124,472,650 - 124,472,650 -
123,153,894 - 123,153,894 -
7,806,625 - 7,806,625 -
41,053,687 - 41,053,687 1,971,787
16,404,315 - 16,404,315 3,012,863
11,563,342 - 11,563,342 -
6,036,295 4,991 6,041,286 1,022,973
330,490,808 4,991 330,495,799 6,007,623
80,000 (80,000) - -
330,570,808 (75,009) 330,495,799 6,007,623
44,403,422 1,606,658 46,010,080 1,050,399
547,163,120 118,089,652 665,252,772 50,437,403
591,566,542 $ 119,696,310 711,262,852 $ 51,487,802
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Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments..............ccccccene
Cash and cash equivalents

in segregated acCoUNtS...........cooeeveerieeniienee e,
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
Sales taxes

Real property and other taxes
ACCOUNES.....ceiiieeieiie et
Special assessments
Accrued interest.....

Materials and supplies inventory
Prepayments...... ..o
Guarantee agreement receivable..............cccceeieieenene
Restricted assets:

Equity in pooled cash and investments...............ccc......
Total t

Liabilities:
Accounts payable...........ccooiiiiiiii e
Accrued wages and benefits payable
Due to other governments
Due to other funds............cccevviiiiiiiiiiiiices

Notes payable
Accrued interest payable..

Unearned revenue

Payroll withholding payable..............c..ccccoiiiiinininins

Guarantee agreement payable..............cccoooiviiiiiienns
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:

Property taxes
Sales tax revenue not available

Delinquent property tax revenue not available................
Intergovernmental revenue not available
Special assessments revenue not available....
Accrued interest not available................ccooniiiii

Miscellaneous revenue not available
Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted

Committed.........ooiiiii s
Assigned
Unassigned (deficit)

Total fund balance

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balance:

LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Mental Health

Children

Board of
Developmental

General and Recovery Services Board Disabilities
46,268,160 $ 18,435,123 13,194,058 106,663,064
2,504,036 - - -
31,815,658 - - -
18,799,664 19,909,562 29,339,573 47,904,707
1,945,170 - 545,701 -
727,167 - - -
2,306,419 - - -
15,919 - - -
8,228,044 7,511,478 5,422,639 3,757,275
432,676 - - 17,786
7,007,767 - - -
120,050,680 $ 45,856,163 48,501,971 158,342,832
1,371,619  § 712,366 1,189,316 587,360
3,165,992 57,969 879,848 620,815
852,045 8,957 135,937 95,916
34,266 664 4,065 -
2,910,123 - - -
8,334,045 779,956 2,209,166 1,304,091
16,315,714 17,277,316 25,492,978 41,718,848
11,895,754 - - -
2,256,867 2,377,186 3,474,012 5,583,234
5,288,305 5,335,374 3,650,535 2,954,752
721,280 - - -
1,217,665 - - -
1,254,008 - - 37,225
38,949,593 24,989,876 32,617,525 50,294,059
1,828,773 - - 17,786
7,337,178 20,086,331 13,675,280 106,726,896
6,677,063 - - -
2,465,403 - - -
54,458,625 - - -
72,767,042 20,086,331 13,675,280 106,744,682
120,050,680  $ 45,856,163 48,501,971 158,342,832

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Nonmajor Total
Debt Capital Governmental Governmental
Service Improvements Funds Funds
15,330,635 $ 108,665,783 110,953,869 419,510,692
- - 2,522,699 5,026,735
- - - 31,815,658
- - 26,307,978 142,261,484
498,612 4,329,000 1,712,137 9,030,620
7,138,979 - 6,040,481 13,906,627
- - - 2,306,419
- - - 15,919
- 150,000 14,752,657 39,822,093
- 37,455,000 - 37,455,000
- - 939,186 939,186
- - 1,661,170 2,111,632
- - 6,975,462 6,975,462
- - - 7,007,767
22,968,226 $ 150,599,783 171,865,639 718,185,294
- $ 4,489,223 5,177,811 13,527,695
- 2,857 2,022,023 6,749,504
- 441 1,750,029 2,843,325
- 22 31,847 70,864
- 37,528,349 - 37,528,349
- 507,281 - 507,281
- - 8,586,929 8,586,929
- - - 2,910,123
- - 6,975,462 6,975,462
- 42,528,173 24,544,101 79,699,532
- - 22,855,086 123,659,942
- - - 11,895,754
- - 3,118,710 16,810,009
- 150,000 7,743,197 25,122,163
7,077,867 - 5,926,727 13,725,874
- - - 1,217,665
498,612 4,329,000 68,568 6,187,413
7,576,479 4,479,000 39,712,288 198,618,820
- - 2,600,356 4,446,915
- - 100,114,977 247,940,662
15,391,747 103,592,610 5,496,952 131,158,372
- - - 2,465,403
- - (603,035) 53,855,590
15,391,747 103,592,610 107,609,250 439,866,942
22,968,226 $ 150,599,783 171,865,639 718,185,294
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCES GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Total governmental fund balances
Amounts reported for governmental activities on the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not
reported in the governmental funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and therefore are
deferred inflows in the governmental funds.
Sales taxes receivable
Delinquent property taxes receivable
Accounts receivable
Special assessments receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Intergovernmental receivable
Total

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of insurance and other services
to individual funds. The assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and deferred outflows of the internal service
funds are included in governmental activities in the statement of net position, less $573,937 of net
capital assets included above as capital assets used in governmental activities, plus $62,972 for
compensated absences included below, plus $701,664 and $41,400 for net pension asset/liability
and net OPEB asset and related deferred inflows/outflows, respectively, included below.

When consolidating internal service funds, the portion of the operating income or loss allocated to
business-type activities is eliminated from the governmental activities and is reported as a component
of internal balance.

On the statement of net position, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds and notes payable, whereas
in governmental funds, interest is accrued when due.

Unamortized deferred outflows of resources on refunding transactions are not recognized in the
governmental funds.

Unamortized premiums on bond issuances are not recognized in governmental funds.
Unamortized discounts on bond issuances are not recognized in governmental funds.

The net pension asset/liability is not due and receivable/payable in the current period; therefore, the
asset, liability and related deferred inflows/outflows are not recognized in the governmental funds.
Deferred outflows of resources - pension
Deferred inflows of resources - pension
Net pension asset
Net pension liability
Total

The net OPEB asset is not due and receivable in the current period; therefore, the asset and
related deferred inflows/outflows are not recognized in the governmental funds.
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
Net OPERB liability
Total

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and
therefore are not reported in the funds.
Compensated absences
Lease payable
Landfill obligations
Bonds payable
SBITA payable
OPWC loans payable
Total

Net position of governmental activities

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11,895,754
16,810,009
6,187,413
13,725,874
1,217,665
25,122,163

127,283,886

(1,525,397)
2,337,139

(310,873,324)

19,633,826
(2,398,421)
(6,531,525)

(23,564,790)
(2,985,116)
(325,000)
(130,295,600)
(1,437,216)
(2,373,443)

$

439,866,942

361,429,202

74,958,878

49,840,944

(428,101)

(795,062)

4,085,869
(4,752,502)
415,353

(182,777,696)

10,703,880

(160,981,165)

$

591,566,542




Metroparks Toledo Mountain Biking

The natural terrain of Northwest Ohio is a great place for riders of all abilities and
fitness levels to get started. So whether you're new to the sport or an experienced
rider, come enjoy nature and get outside yourself on two wheels.

Metroparks offers instructional programs and group rides for all levels to get
you on the bike and out on the trail. If you're just getting started, look for an
Introductory 101 course or more advanced programs if you're looking to master
your skills or learn some new ones.
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Board of
Mental Health Children Developmental
General and Recovery Services Board Disabilities
Revenues:
Sales taxes.......ccoceeeeevenen. $ 123,363,373 $ - - -
Real property and other taxes... 16,171,638 17,067,469 25,186,133 41,220,664
Lodging taxes - - - -
Charges for services. 16,042,759 - 625,914 -
Licenses and permits 30,475 - - -
Fines and forfeitures 301,046 - - -
Intergovernmental 41,900,881 13,853,429 30,604,368 15,560,082
Special asSeSSMENTS.......cceeviieiiiiiiiieieee s 416,922 - - -
Investment income.... 15,699,102 - - 12,481
3,399,377 - - -
Increase in fair value of investments................c.ccoeennee. 11,563,342 - - -
ONET. .t 2,375,687 43,406 87,301 360,414
Total revenues 231,264,602 30,964,304 56,503,716 57,153,641
Expenditures:
Current:
General government:
Legislative and executive 50,988,387 - - -
Judicial..... 49,727,190 - - -
Public safety 44,298,026 - - -
Public works.... 478,863 - - -
1,073,468 34,032,238 - 53,420,953
1,987,191 - 59,400,331 -
283,782 - - -
2,423,583 - - -
Capital OUtlay........cccoeiiiiiii e 580,206 - - -
Debt service:
Principal retirement...........cccccoiiiiiniiine 147,857 - - 61,671
Interest and fiscal charges............cocceeviiniiiiieciees 35,654 - - 2,529
Note iSsuanCce COStS..........coovrvicieiiiiieeeece e - - - -
Total expenditures 152,024,207 34,032,238 59,400,331 53,485,153
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 79,240,395 (3,067,934) (2,896,615) 3,668,488
Other financing sources (uses):
Issuance of loans - - - -
Lease transaction 568,437 - - -
Transfers in - - - -
Transfers (OUt).........ccceevenenee. (71,989,913) - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) (71,421,476) - - -
Net change in fund balances...........cccccoviiiiiiniiiiis 7,818,919 (3,067,934) (2,896,615) 3,668,488
Fund balances at beginning of year (restated).............. 64,948,123 23,154,265 16,571,895 103,076,194
Fund balances at end of year. $ 72,767,042 $ 20,086,331 13,675,280 106,744,682

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Nonmajor Total
Debt Capital Governmental Governmental
Service Improvements Funds Funds
- $ - - 123,363,373
- - 22,580,154 122,226,058
- - 7,806,625 7,806,625
- - 28,431,882 45,100,555
- - 1,899,708 1,930,183
- - 2,128,975 2,430,021
- 196,035 137,398,211 239,513,006
891,924 - 2,554,297 3,863,143
- 165,457 424,311 16,301,351
1,475,826 - 39,041 4,914,244
- - - 11,563,342
3,620,305 1,937,869 5,339,558 13,764,540
5,988,055 2,299,361 208,602,762 592,776,441
12,050 - 18,858,249 69,858,686
- - 20,440,519 70,167,709
- - 36,739,674 81,037,700
- - 25,846,319 26,325,182
- - 9,619,126 98,145,785
- - 87,170,263 148,557,785
- - 13,870,707 14,154,489
- - 364,575 2,788,158
- 25,329,452 367,410 26,277,068
4,569,100 - 978,287 5,756,915
5,739,469 1,987,751 84,643 7,850,046
- 88,019 - 88,019
10,320,619 27,405,222 214,339,772 551,007,542
(4,332,564) (25,105,861) (5,737,010) 41,768,899
- - 723,547 723,547
- - 360,455 928,892
6,933,408 38,913,315 33,569,563 79,416,286
- - (7,346,373) (79,336,286)
6,933,408 38,913,315 27,307,192 1,732,439
2,600,844 13,807,454 21,570,182 43,501,338
12,790,903 89,785,156 86,039,068 396,365,604
15,391,747 $ 103,592,610 107,609,250 439,866,942
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

RECONCILIATION OF NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL
FUNDS TO CHANGES IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those
assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation/amortization expense. This is the amount by
which depreciation expense exceeds capital outlays in the current period (excluding internal service funds):
Capital outlay - nondepreciable capital assets $
Capital outlay - depreciable capital assets
Current year depreciation/amortization
Total

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e. sales, disposals, trade-ins,
and donations) is to decrease net position (excludes internal service funds activity).

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as
revenues in the governmental funds:
Sales tax revenue
Property tax revenue
Special assessment revenue
Intergovernmental and other revenues
Total

The issuances of bonds and loans are reported as an other financing source in the funds; however, in the
statement of activities, they are not reported as revenues as they increase the liabilities on the statement of net position.

Repayment of bond, loan, lease, and SBITA principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment
reduces liabilities on the statement of net position (excluding internal service funds activity):
Bond principal payments
Loan principal payments
SBITA payable principal payments
Lease payable principal payments
Total

Repayment of the landfill liability is an expenditure in the funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities on the
statement of net position.

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds; whereas in the funds, an interest expenditure
is reported when due. The following items contributed to less interest being reported in the statement of activities:
(Increase) in accrued interest payable
Amortization of bond premiums
Amortization of bond discounts
Amortization of deferred outflow of resources resulting from debt refundings
Total

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, such as compensated absences, do not require the use
of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. The
following represents the decrease in the compensated absences liability (excluding internal service funds).

The internal service fund used by management to charge insurance and other services to individual funds is not reported
in the County-wide statement of activities. Governmental fund expenditures and the related internal service fund revenues
are eliminated. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds, including internal balance activity of ($234,206)
and including ($48,167) and ($69,093) of net pension and net OPEB contributions/expense, respectively, reported below,
is allocated among governmental activities.

Contractually required pension contributions are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds; however, the
statement of net position reports these amounts as deferred outflows.

Except for amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net pension asset/liability are reported as
pension expense in the statement of activities.

Contractually required OPEB contributions are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds; however, the
statement of net position reports these amounts as deferred outflows.

Except for amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net OPEB asset/liability are reported as
OPEB expense in the statement of activities.

Change in net position of governmental activities

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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26,044,493
3,578,001

(21,221,829)

(209,479)
2,246,508
(664,806)
(1,005,650)

4,569,100
234,079
549,549
404,187

(33,572)
292,639
(15,566)

(274,496)

$

$

43,501,338

8,400,665

(1,089,570)

366,573

(1,652,439)

5,756,915

25,000

(30,995)

(583,983)

(4,912,359)

23,378,160

(41,908,929)

282,185

12,870,861

44,403,422



LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Revenues:
Sales taxes
Real property and other taxes..
Charges for services
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures

Intergovernmental................ccooooiiiiii
Special assessments
Investment income

Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current:

General government:
Legislative and executive
Judicial

Public safety

Public works..

Total expenditures

Variance with

Excess of revenues
over expenditures....

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in

Transfers (out)
Net change in fund balance..............cccocoeeiiiiiiiicccee,
Fund balance at beginning of year

Prior year encumbrances appropriated.
Fund balance at end of year

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

114,954,847 $ 128,316,944 $ 123,170,151 $ (5,146,793)
14,575,000 14,575,000 16,148,009 1,573,009
13,423,750 13,423,750 12,757,285 (666,465)
35,000 35,000 30,475 (4,525)
219,500 219,500 301,046 81,546
18,118,715 38,618,715 43,007,997 4,389,282
500,000 500,000 421,765 (78,235)
5,530,000 5,530,000 14,892,518 9,362,518
938,350 938,350 3,399,377 2,461,027
1,626,120 1,626,120 2,367,627 741,507
169,921,282 203,783,379 216,496,250 12,712,871
55,960,714 57,898,003 53,210,670 4,687,333
46,696,749 48,075,809 47,185,604 890,205
49,463,078 49,596,297 44,802,156 4,794,141
465,841 499,002 483,854 15,148
1,574,210 1,574,210 1,424,662 149,548
2,189,918 2,194,397 2,015,941 178,456
238,511 288,516 287,713 803
575,000 2,122,579 2,122,579 -
157,164,021 162,248,813 151,533,179 10,715,634
12,757,261 41,534,566 64,963,071 23,428,505
6,479,901 6,479,901 318,728 (6,161,173)
(20,649,594) (73,096,394) (72,539,913) 556,481
(1,412,432) (25,081,927) (7,258,114) 17,823,813
34,680,893 34,680,893 34,680,893 -
1,700,734 1,700,734 1,700,734 -
34,969,195 $ 11,299,700 $ 29,123,513 $ 17,823,813

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
MENTAL HEALTH AND RECOVERY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
$ 16,763,066 $ 16,763,066 $ 17,040,497 $ 277,431
14,486,973 14,486,973 13,218,675 (1,268,298)
25,000 25,000 43,406 18,406
Total revenues 31,275,039 31,275,039 30,302,578 (972,461)
Expenditures:
Current:

32,800,749 33,900,748 33,798,243 102,505
Net change in fund balance.............ccocooeieiiiiiiiccce, (1,525,710) (2,625,709) (3,495,665) (869,956)
Fund balance at beginning of year 21,312,436 21,312,436 21,312,436 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated. 469 469 469 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 19,787,195  $ 18,687,196 $ 17,817,240 $ (869,956)

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
CHILDREN SERVICES BOARD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Real property and other taxes $ 24,892,683 $ 24,892,683 $ 25,146,210 $ 253,527
Charges for services 398,584 398,584 605,800 207,216
28,264,090 28,264,090 29,843,672 1,579,582
843,363 843,363 54,801 (788,562)
Total revenues 54,398,720 54,398,720 55,650,483 1,251,763
Expenditures:
Current:
HUMAN SEIVICES. .....oieeiiiiiie et 58,578,647 61,981,113 59,141,846 2,839,267
Net change in fund balance.............ccocooeiiiiniiiiiece, (4,179,927) (7,582,393) (3,491,363) 4,091,030
Fund balance at beginning of year.... 15,706,288 15,706,288 15,706,288 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated. 5,784 5,784 5,784 -
Fund balance at end of year. $ 11,532,145 $ 8,129,679 $ 12,220,709 $ 4,091,030

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
BOARD OF DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues:

Real property and other taxes $ 44,780,000 $ 44,780,000 $ 41,155,106 (3,624,894)

Intergovernmental... 7,435,000 7,345,000 15,700,667 8,355,667

Investment income - - 12,206 12,206

OBt e e e et e e e e eeea e 300,000 400,000 191,404 (208,596)
Total revenues 52,515,000 52,525,000 57,059,383 4,534,383
Expenditures:

Current:

Health. ... 57,809,993 57,932,449 55,802,526 2,129,923

Net change in fund balance.............ccocooeiiiiniiiiiece, (5,294,993) (5,407,449) 1,256,857 6,664,306
Fund balance at beginning of year.... 102,074,947 102,074,947 102,074,947 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated. 1,814 1,814 1,814 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 96,781,768 $ 96,669,312 $ 103,333,618 6,664,306

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Metroparks Toledo Paddling Sports

Beat the heat and make a splash with our canoes, kayaks, and stand-up
paddleboards!

Explore the scenic ponds and marshes of your Metroparks. You can launch hand-
powered paddle craft (such as a canoe or kayak) at several locations. These water
bodies have no current and are great for beginner paddlers.

The Maumee River can be also accessed through several launch points.
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities -

Water Supply Wastewater Sewer
System Treatment System
Assets:
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments....................... $ 11,509,041 $ 8,249,224 $ 5,903,979
Receivables:
Accounts.... 516,425 2,840,279 362,298
Due from other funds. - - -
Materials and supplies inventory.............cc.cccccvcieenne - 21,924 -
Prepayments - - -
Total current assets... 12,025,466 11,111,427 6,266,277
Noncurrent assets:
Net pension asset (see Note 11).......cccccvevevenencnenne - 20,493 -
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable capital assets... 263,290 - -
Depreciable capital assets, net.. 33,924,746 26,496,259 47,414,070
Total capital assets, net 34,188,036 26,496,259 47,414,070
Total noncurrent asSets.............cccceeeeeeeeeceeeeeieeeaennnn 34,188,036 26,516,752 47,414,070
Total t 46,213,502 37,628,179 53,680,347
Deferred outflows of resources:
Pension (see Note 11)........cccccooviiiiiciccicce - 1,112,771 -
OPEB (see Note 12) - 172,152 -
Total deferred outflows of resources.. - 1,284,923 -
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable.............ccccciiiiii 243,931 422,919 132,924
Accrued wages and benefits payable.. - 60,164 -
Due to other funds - 286 -
Due to other governments............cccccoeiiiiiiicicicnes - 9,295 -
Accrued interest payable.. 9,792 23,511 47,187
Notes payable 1,035,819 2,487,100 4,991,633
Compensated absences payable - current.................. - 83,160 -
Lease payable - current - - -
OWDA loans payable - current.. 108,997 1,359,896 296,245
OPWC loans payable - current.. 64,464 180,214 271,103
Claims payable - current............cccocooiiiiiiiiiiiice. - - -
Total current liabilities.................cc.cccvevrevreivereenne 1,463,003 4,626,545 5,739,092
Long-term liabilities:
Compensated absences payable - 24,712 -
Lease payable - - -
OWDA loans payable..........c.ccccoeiierinreiineiieinens 895,308 12,945,353 4,327,074
OPWC loans payable 686,989 1,745,448 3,176,830
Net pension liability (see Note 11) - 2,725,822 -
Net OPEB liability (see Note 12)...........cccceveveneinnnne - 57,270 -
Total long-term liabilities..................cccccccvcennveneeennn. 1,582,297 17,498,605 7,503,904
Total liabilities 3,045,300 22,125,150 13,242,996
Deferred inflows of resources:
Pension (see Note 11).....cccoviiiiiireneierereeeeeeeee - 42,802 -
OPEB (see Note 12) - 23,734 -
Total deferred inflows of resources.... - 66,536 -
Net position:
Net investment in capital @ssets...........ccccoeeieiniininns 31,396,459 7,778,248 34,351,185
Restricted for pension... - 20,493 _
Unrestricted.. 11,771,743 8,922,675 6,086,166
Total net position $ 43,168,202 $ 16,721,416 $ 40,437,351

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of the internal service funds activities related to enterprise funds.

Net position of business-type activities

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Enterprise Funds Governmental
Nonmajor Activities -
Enterprise Internal

Funds Total Service Funds

$ 19,859,669 45,521,913 50,285,026
2,219,037 5,938,039 4,300
- - 58,456
- 21,924 4,298
- - 3,864,022
22,078,706 51,481,876 54,216,102
48,489 68,982 9,217
227,696 490,986 39,736
3,580,746 111,415,821 534,201
3,808,442 111,906,807 573,937
3,856,931 111,975,789 583,154
25,935,637 163,457,665 54,799,256
2,641,386 3,754,157 539,578
408,974 581,126 77,754
3,050,360 4,335,283 617,332
2,025,683 2,825,457 30,006
166,391 226,555 27,586
726 1,012 2,499
25,707 35,002 275,616
1,598 82,088 -
- 8,514,552 R
309,430 392,590 44,004
54,900 54,900 -
79,643 1,844,781 -
- 515,781 -
- - 4,039,451
2,664,078 14,492,718 4,419,162
141,721 166,433 18,968
61,946 61,946 -
316,444 18,484,179 -
- 5,609,267 -
6,449,720 9,175,542 1,226,075
135,510 192,780 25,761
7,105,341 33,690,147 1,270,804
9,769,419 48,182,865 5,689,966
227,940 270,742 24,384
47,398 71,132 10,593
275,338 341,874 34,977
3,295,509 76,821,401 573,937
48,489 68,982 9,217
15,597,242 42,377,826 49,108,491
$ 18,941,240 119,268,209 49,691,645

428,101

119,696,310
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities -

Operating revenues:
Charges for services
Special assessments.

Operating expenses:
Personal services

Contract services....

Materials and SUPPliES.........cccooeeriiiiiiieeeeee e
Heat, light and POWET...........ccoveiieiiiiiiiiiicccci e
Employee medical benefits..........cccccoeiiiiiiiieiiiiiie
Depreciation/amortization..............cccccevvveeveenieiienieennen,

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Interest and fiscal charges.......
Loss on disposal of capital assets..............ccceeveriennens
Interest revenue
Intergovernmenta
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)....

Income (loss) before transfers
and capital contributions................cccocoevvescesieaiieseeee

Transfer out..........cccoccviiiiiiicic e,
Capital contributions...........cccooeiiiiiieiiiee e

Change in Net POSItION..............ccccooueceeeesiiiiieieieeieae

Net position at beginning of year (restated)..................

Net position at end of year.

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service funds activities related to enterprise funds.

Change in net position of business-type activities.

Water Supply Wastewater Sewer

System Treatment System
2,380,706 $ 9,070,325 $ 2,658,609
10,394 - -
4,387 - -
2,395,487 9,070,325 2,658,609
- 2,093,835 -
1,133,615 3,664,624 1,464,259
148,724 801,359 351,322
482,805 1,360,500 151,550
1,804,171 1,388,912 2,080,530
579 47 427 866
3,569,894 9,356,657 4,048,527
(1,174,407) (286,332) (1,389,918)
(85,913) (577,604) (435,066)
374,828 340,000 4,062,845
288,915 (237,604) 3,627,779
(885,492) (523,936) 2,237,861
- - (80,000)
202,599 - 469,703
(682,893) (523,936) 2,627,564
43,851,095 17,245,352 37,809,787
43,168,202 $ 16,721,416 $ 40,437,351

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Enterprise Funds Governmental
Nonmajor Activities -
Enterprise Internal

Funds Total Service Funds

$ 19,295,469 33,405,109 45,473,212
1,541,723 1,552,117 -

604 4,991 3,341,703

20,837,796 34,962,217 48,814,915
5,108,780 7,202,615 895,028
13,813,686 20,076,184 16,196,513
678,901 1,980,306 175,644

68,120 2,062,975 -

- - 37,147,115

577,545 5,851,158 80,785

96,906 145,778 555
20,343,938 37,319,016 54,495,640
493,858 (2,356,799) (5,680,725)
(42,827) (1,141,410) -
(86,995) (86,995) -

- - 555,086

56,093 4,833,766 -
(73,729) 3,605,361 555,086
420,129 1,248,562 (5,125,639)

- (80,000) -

- 672,302 -

420,129 1,840,864 (5,125,639)
18,521,111 54,817,284

$ 18,941,240 49,691,645

(234,206)
1,606,658
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities -

Water Supply Wastewater Sewer
System Treatment System
Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from sales/charges for services..................... 2,538,397 $ 9,008,754 2,585,193

Cash received from special assessments .............ccccecvenene 10,394 - -

Cash received from other operations 4,387 - -

Cash payments to employees - (2,137,046) -

Cash payments for contractual services...........cccooeeveeniennienne (905,605) (4,047,908) (1,489,839)

Cash payments for materials and supplies (148,724) (1,278,388) (374,461)

Cash payments for heat, light and power (482,805) (1,360,500) (151,550)

Cash payments for employee medical benefits - - -

Cash payments for other expenses (579) (47,427) (866)

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities..............c.cccuuveroeerveeneesieiieeseee 1,015,465 137,485 568,477
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Cash received from grants and subsidies...........c.ccccceevenneene 374,828 340,000 4,062,845
Cash used in transfers out.............cccooioiiiiiiiiiinccs - - (80,000)
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing @ctivities..............cccceeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 374,828 340,000 3,982,845
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:

Acquisition of capital assets.... (75,117) (26,076) (7,034,456)

Capital contributions. - - 197,167

Issuance of notes 1,032,832 2,479,928 4,977,240

Premium on notes.. 3,584 8,606 17,272

Note issuance costs (3,584) (8,606) (17,272)

Proceeds from loans - 510,000 1,469,432

Principal paid on notes.. (1,286,000) (2,682,000) (8,350,000)

Interest paid on notes (49,832) (103,927) (323,562)

Principal paid on loans (169,383) (1,482,425) (513,639)

Interest paid on loans (37,109) (471,790) (136,782)

Principal paid on financed purchase note payable................ - - (96,990)

Interest paid on financed purchase note payable.................. - - (2,793)

Principal paid on lease payables............ccccoeeieniiniinienees - - -

Interest paid on lease payables...........cccccovveviiiiniiiiiiinnnn, - - -

Net cash (used in)
fiNANCING @CtIVItIES............cceveeeeeeieseeseeeee e (584,609) (1,776,290) (9,814,383)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Interest received....... ..o - - -
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents............ 805,684 (1,298,805) (5,263,061)
Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year (restated) 10,703,357 9,548,029 11,167,040
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year...........cccveereruenen 11,509,041 $ 8,249,224 5,903,979
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Enterprise Funds Governmental
Nonmajor Activities -
Enterprise Internal

Funds Total Service Funds
$ 20,371,509 34,503,853 $ 45,511,313
1,541,723 1,552,117 -
604 4,991 3,341,703
(4,990,783) (7,127,829) (925,164)
(13,908,187) (20,351,539) (16,014,297)
(678,901) (2,480,474) (169,572)
(68,120) (2,062,975) -
- - (37,744,654)
(96,906) (145,778) (555)
2,170,939 3,892,366 (6,001,226)
56,093 4,833,766 -
- (80,000) -
56,093 4,753,766 -
(667,092) (7,802,741) -
- 197,167 -
- 8,490,000 -
- 29,462 -
- (29,462) -
- 1,979,432 -
- (12,318,000) -
- (477,321) -
(75,327) (2,240,774) -
(25,586) (671,267) -
- (96,990) -
- (2,793) -
(69,169) (69,169) -
(17,111) (17,111) -
(854,285) (13,029,567) -
- - 555,086
1,372,747 (4,383,435) (5,446,140)
18,486,922 49,905,348 55,731,166
$ 19,859,669 45,521,913 $ 50,285,026
Continued
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Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Operating iNCome (I0SS)..........cceviviiiiiiiiiiiiiii i

Adjustments:
Depreciation/amortization............cc.cceoeeierieiiinieneeeeeee

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in materials and supplies inventory.
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Decrease in due from other funds...........c.ccocviiiiiniicicns

Decrease in prepayments..........cocvveeieereeneeniesieseesee e
(Increase) in deferred outflows of resources - pension..........
(Increase) in deferred outflows of resources - OPEB............
Decrease in net pension asset...
Decrease in net OPEB asset.........

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable....
Increase (decrease) in accrued wages and benefits.............
Increase in due to other funds
Increase (decrease) in due to other governments...
(Decrease) in deferred inflows of resources - pension..........
(Decrease) in deferred inflows of resources - OPEB..
Increase in net pension liability.
Increase in net OPEB liability...........cccoccoviiiiiiiiiiicee
Increase (decrease) in compensated

absences payable...........cccooiiiiiii
(Decrease) in claims payable..............ccocoeiiiiiiiiiiciciene

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities..................

Noncash Transactions:

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

Business-type Activities -

Water Supply
System

Wastewater
Treatment

Sewer
System

(1,174,407)

1,804,171

$

(286,332)
1,388,912

2,774
(61,571)

(773,750)
(170,443)
14,787
285,489
(863,087)
(2,841)
(440)
(1,051,123)
(295,367)
1,920,930
57,270

(27,723)

$

(1,389,918)
2,080,530

(73,416)

1,015,465

137,485

568,477

During 2023, the Water Supply System fund received $202,599 in contributed capital assets.
During 2023, the Sewer System fund received $272,536 in contributed capital assets.
During 2022, the Sewer System fund received $270,266 in loan proceeds on account.

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

-50 -



Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Nonmajor Activities -
Enterprise Internal

Funds Total Service Funds

$ 493,858 (2,356,799) (5,680,725)
577,545 5,851,158 80,785

- 2,774 61

1,076,040 1,098,744 35,053

- - 3,048

- - 348,322
(1,743,136) (2,516,886) (375,759)
(399,842) (570,285) (64,191)

41,941 56,728 5,452

731,768 1,017,257 118,708
(94,519) (778,315) (424,283)

7,763 4,922 6,808

18 18 32

1,198 758 67,993
(2,323,223) (3,374,346) (472,921)
(727,720) (1,023,087) (149,371)

4,386,615 6,307,545 891,395

135,510 192,780 25,761

7,123 (20,600) (17,067)

- - (400,327)

2,170,939 $ 3,892,366 $ (6,001,226)
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents............cccccoevieiennnnns
Cash in segregated acCounts. ...........cooeerieeieenieniese e
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles):

Real property and other taxes............cccceveiiiiiiiiiiniciicne,
Accounts
Due from other governments

Total asset:

Liabilities:
Due to other governments............cccvviieiieiiiiiieiiccc s

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Property taxes levied for the next fiscal year............cccceveniiiiinnenn.

Total deferred inflows of resources

Net position:
Restricted for individuals, organizations and other governments......

Total net position

Custodial

$ 38,151,007
5,245,542

1,079,561,781
79

78,232,083

1,201,190,492

90,435,265

90,435,265

876,424,708

876,424,708

234,330,519

$ 234,330,519

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Custodial
Additions:
Intergovernmental $ 39,404,001
Amounts received as fiscal agent 43,577,301
Licenses, permits and fees for other governments.. 86,564,776
Fines and forfeitures for other governments 6,573,807
Property tax collection for other governments... 581,329,930
Special assessments collections for other governments... 11,155,833
Earnings on investments 5,765
Other custodial fund collections 3,624,152
Total AAAUIONS...........ceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 772,235,565
Deductions:
Distributions to the State of Ohio 1,289,275
Distributions of state funds to other governments 39,213,509
Distributions as fiscal agent 43,588,970
Licenses, permits and fees distributions to other governments ..... 85,333,905
Fines and forfeitures distributions to other governments 6,574,586
Property tax distributions to other governments 568,256,344
Other custodial fund disbursements.............ccccoovrviiiiniiiienn, 3,688,161
Total dedUCHIONS.............cocviiiiiiiieeieeiieeeeeee e 747,944,750
Net change in fiduciary net pOSition...............cc.ccccceeviiciicencrecenencne. 24,290,815
Net position beginning of year. 210,039,704
Net position end of year. $ 234,330,519

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments..............

Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles):

ACCOUNES......ooiiiiic
Materials and supplies inventory .
Prepayments..........ccccooviiiiiiiniiiiiccec e,
Other assets.........ccoceereiiiiiiieeeeee e
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable capital assets.................c......

Depreciable capital assets...........ccccceriirieene

Accumulated depreciation...........ccccoevcveveiinens
Total capital assets, net........ccccevviiiiiiieeninenn

Total t

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued wages and benefits
Due to other governments
Unearned revenue
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets............cccccee.n.
Restricted for:

Capital projects
Health programs.
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net position

LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Preferred Lucas County
Toledo Mud Properties, Toledo Land
Hens Baseball Inc. and Arena Reutilization
Club, Inc. Affiliates Sports, Inc. Corporation

$ 16,597,456 725,140 $ 3,716,591 5,237,879
2,434,868 4,246,492 448,581 1,170,636
354,335 - 83,090 -

368,387 1,211 143,880 -

1,294,407 413,621 706,393 1,557,640

18,700 1,494,800 63,053 -

6,302,466 17,451,564 2,009,352 64,164
(3,578,767) (9,514,662) (1,132,942) (38,496)
2,742,399 9,431,702 939,463 25,668
23,791,852 14,818,166 6,037,998 7,991,823
749,736 73,870 672,324 84,727

2,057,753 86,258 853,167 61,018

- - - 23,677

- (38,695) 146,666 1,008,886

9,034,113 441,786 1,008,364 -

160,116 - - -

1,055,181 - - -
13,056,899 563,219 2,680,521 1,178,308
2,742,399 9,431,702 939,463 25,668

- 14,466,984 - -

7,992,554 (9,643,739) 2,418,014 6,787,847

$ 10,734,953 14,254,947 $ 3,357,477 6,813,515

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Lucas County
Transportation

Lucas County
Economic

Toledo-Lucas
County

Improvement Development Convention and
District Corporation Visitors Bureau Total

1,221,376 41,545,471 $ 6,200,592 $ 75,244,505
6,975,462 4,028,614 2,187,587 21,492,240
- - - 437,425

- 66,543 212,001 792,022

- 848,901 - 4,820,962

- - 1,175,000 2,751,553

- - 14,751,803 40,579,349
- - (7,436,521) (21,701,388)

- - 8,490,282 21,629,514
8,196,838 46,489,529 17,090,462 124,416,668
576 106,948 1,642,237 3,330,418

- 1,802,260 43,505 4,903,961

- - 389,318 412,995

- - - 1,116,857

- - 4,685,712 15,169,975
374,429 - - 534,545
6,601,033 39,803,901 - 47,460,115
6,976,038 41,713,109 6,760,772 72,928,866
- - 8,490,282 21,629,514
965,348 - - 965,348

- - - 14,466,984

255,452 4,776,420 1,839,408 14,425,956
1,220,800 4,776,420 $ 10,329,690 $ 51,487,802
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Program Revenues

Component Units:

Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc.
ReCreation.........ccccoeciiiiiiiiiii e

Preferred Properties, Inc. and Affiliates
Health. ...

Toledo Arena Sports, Inc.
Recreation..........cccoccuiiiiiiiiici

Lucas County Land Reutilization Corporation
Public WOrks...........ccooviiiiiiii e

Lucas County Transportation Improvement District
PUDBIIC WOTKS.......ooiiiiiiiicciiciccec e

Lucas County Economic Development Corporation
Legislative & executive............cccoeveiiiiiiiiiieic

Toledo-Lucas County Convention and
Visitors Bureau
Recreation..........ccccccviiiiiiiiiici e
Total component units,

Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants
Expenses Services and Sales and Contributions and Contributions
$ 15,939,940 $ 16,054,496 $ - $ -
2,140,548 1,342,523 420,821 -
11,407,982 11,361,119 - -
10,301,276 1,071,197 6,705,638 -
285,032 - - 944,131
3,453,098 - 1,350,000 -
9,901,778 4,642,371 3,914,634 665,500
$ 53,429,654 $ 34,471,706 $ 12,391,093 $ 1,609,631

General revenues:

Investment earnings....

Grants and entitlements not restricted
0 SPECIfiC PrOgramS. ......cuiiiieiieeiie e e

MiISCEIIANEOUS. ...ttt

Total general reVENUES...........c.cocuiiiiiiiiiii e

Change in et POSItIoN..........oouiiiiiii s

Net position at beginning of year (restated)

Net position at end of year.

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Preferred Lucas County Lucas County Lucas County Toledo-Lucas
Toledo Mud Properties, Toledo Land Transportation Economic County
Hens Baseball Inc. and Arena Reutilization Improvement Development Convention and
Club, Inc. Affiliates Sports, Inc. Corporation District Corporation Visitors Bureau Total

$ 114,556 - - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 114,556
- (377,204) - - - - - (377,204)
- - (46,863) - - - - (46,863)
- - - (2,524,441) - - - (2,524,441)
- - - - 659,099 - - 659,099
B . - - - (2,103,098) - (2,103,098)
- - - - - - (679,273) (679,273)
114,556 (377,204) (46,863) (2,524,441) 659,099 (2,103,098) (679,273) (4,957,224)
246,185 88,897 662 230,876 3,506 2,399,343 43,394 3,012,863
- - - 1,846,215 125,572 - - 1,971,787
139,259 318 121,940 5,887 - 755,569 - 1,022,973
385,444 89,215 122,602 2,082,978 129,078 3,154,912 43,394 6,007,623
500,000 (287,989) 75,739 (441,463) 788,177 1,051,814 (635,879) 1,050,399
10,234,953 14,542,936 3,281,738 7,254,978 432,623 3,724,606 10,965,569 50,437,403
$ 10,734,953 14,254,947 3,357,477 $ 6,813,515 $ 1,220,800 $ 4,776,420 $ 10,329,690 $ 51,487,802
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Metroparks Toledo Showshoeing

Strap on a pair of Metroparks snowshoes and explore a winter wonderland!
Growing in popularity, snowshoeing is a great way to enjoy the winter woods on
the Metroparks trails. Some people even enjoy running in snowshoes. Walking
trails and open fields are available for snowshoeing—just add snow.

You never know what can “pop up” in winter! Sometimes, conditions are just right
for a fun snowshoe adventure in our beautiful Metroparks.
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF THE COUNTY

Lucas County, Ohio (the “County”) is a political subdivision of the State of Ohio. The County was
formed by an act of the Ohio General Assembly in 1835. The three-member Board of County
Commissioners is the legislative and executive body of the County. The County Auditor is the chief
fiscal officer. In addition, there are seven other elected administrative officials, each of whom is
independent as set forth by Ohio law. These officials are: Clerk of Courts, Coroner, Engineer,
Prosecutor, Recorder, Sheriff, and Treasurer. There are also ten Common Pleas Court Judges,
two Domestic Relations Court Judges, two Juvenile Court Judges, one Probate Court Judge and
five Court of Appeals Judges elected on a County-wide basis to oversee the County’s judicial
system.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the County have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting
body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

The most significant of the County’s accounting policies are described below.
A. Reporting Entity

A reporting entity is composed of the primary government, component units, and other
organizations that are included to ensure the financial statements are not misleading. The
primary government of the County consists of all funds, departments, boards, and agencies
that are not legally separate from the County. For Lucas County, this includes; the Board of
Developmental Disabilities, the Job and Family Services Department, and all departments and
activities that are operated directly by the elected County officials.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the County is financially
accountable. The County is financially accountable for an organization if the County appoints
a voting majority of the organization’s governing board and (1) the County is able to significantly
influence the programs or services performed or provided by the organization; or (2) the County
is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization’s resources; or (3) the County is
legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of, or
provide financial support to, the organization; or (4) the County is obligated for the debt of the
organization. Component units may also include organizations for which the County approves
the budget, the issuance of debt, or the levying of taxes or whose relationship with the County
is such that to exclude their activity would be misleading. Based on the criteria described, the
County has seven discretely presented component units whose financial activities have been
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.

In addition, the County has four related organizations and is a participant in three jointly
governed organizations which are described below.
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

Toledo Mud Hens Baseball Club, Inc. (the “Mud Hens”)

The Mud Hens were organized to own, manage, and operate a professional baseball club.
Upon dissolution, any remaining net position would become the property of the Board of County
Commissioners and new appointments to the Board of Directors require concurrence of the
Commissioners. The County receives rent from the Mud Hens to retire non-tax revenue bonds
issued to finance the construction of the baseball stadium. The Mud Hens are reported on a
fiscal year ending October 31. Complete financial statements for the component unit may be
obtained from its administrative office at Fifth Third Field, 406 Washington St., Toledo, Ohio
43604.

Toledo-Lucas County Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. (TLCCVB)

The TLCCVB operates the Glass City Center, a convention and convocation center in the City
of Toledo, and the Huntington Center, the County’s multipurpose arena. The primary purpose
of the TLCCVB is to encourage and promote the utilization of convention, restaurant, hotel,
motel, and entertainment facilities in the County. The TLCCVB has been determined to be a
discrete component unit of the County as the County appoints the TLCCVB'’s Board of Trustees
and the County is financially accountable for, and provides significant subsidies to, the TLCCVB
and its component unit, the Destination Toledo Convention and Visitors Bureau, annually.
TLCCVB’s year end is December 31. Complete financial statements for the component unit
can be obtained from its administrative office at 401 Jefferson Avenue, Toledo, Ohio 43604.

Lucas County Land Reutilization Corporation (LCLRC)

The LCLRC is a community improvement corporation designed to strengthen neighborhoods
in the County by returning vacant and abandoned properties back to the tax rolls through
strategic real estate acquisitions and community partnerships in the redevelopment of Lucas
County properties. Pursuant to provisions in the Ohio Revised Code, the LCLRC is a legally
separate organization that receives funding through the collection of delinquent taxes. The
appointing members of the LCLRC Board are, by State statute, County officeholders (namely
the County Treasurer and two County Commissioners); therefore, the County appoints a voting
majority of the LCLRC Board. In addition, the County is able to impose its will on the LCLRC.
LCLRC’s year end is December 31. Complete financial statements of the LCLRC may be
obtained from its administrative office at One Government Center, #500, Toledo, Ohio 43604.

Toledo Arena Sports, Inc. (TASI)

The TASI is a nonprofit corporation organized to own, manage, and operate sports teams and
thereby promotes, encourages and stimulates an interest in sports teams as recreational
activities for the residents of Lucas County, Ohio. New appointments to the Board of Directors
require concurrence of the Commissioners. The County receives rent from TASI in order to
retire debt issued to finance the construction of the Lucas County Arena.

Due to the nature and significance of TASI’'s relationship with the County, it would be
misleading to exclude TASI from the County’s financial reporting entity and as such, TASI
warrants inclusion in the County’s financial statements as a discretely presented component
unit. The TASI fiscal year end is June 30. Complete financial statements for the component
unit may be obtained from its administrative office at 406 Washington Street, Toledo, Ohio
43604.
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Preferred Properties, Inc. and Affiliates (“Preferred Properties”)

Preferred Properties is a nonprofit corporation organized to provide affordable and accessible
housing to persons with disabilities. One third of the board of the Preferred Properties is
appointed by the LCBDD. Funds for the purchase of housing are received from the LCBDD,
which come from board funds and pass-through of funds from Community Assistance Projects
administered by the Ohio Department of Developmental Disabilities. Based upon the
significant services and resources provided by the County to Preferred Properties and due to
the material significance and general nature of the County’s relationship with Preferred
Properties, it would be misleading to exclude Preferred Properties from the County’s financial
reporting entity and, as such, Preferred Properties warrants inclusion in the County’s financial
statements as a discretely presented component unit. Preferred Properties fiscal year end is
June 30. Complete financial statements for the component unit may be obtained from its
administrative office at 5555 Airport Highway, Toledo, Ohio 43615.

Lucas County Transportation Improvement District (LCTID)

The LCTID is a body politic and corporate, created for the purpose of financing, constructing,
maintaining, repairing, and operating selected transportation projects. The LCTID was
specifically created pursuant to Chapter 5540 of the Ohio Revised Code, as amended. The
LCTID was created by action of the Board of Lucas County Commissioners on April 22, 2014.
The LCTID is governed by a Board of Trustees that acts as the authoritative and legislative
body of the entity. The Board is comprised of seven members of whom five are voting and two
are non-voting. Each Board member serves a term of two years and there are no term limits
for reappointment. The five voting Board members are appointed by the Board of Lucas County
Commissioners. In addition, the County is able to impose its will on the LCTID. LCTID’s year
end is December 31. Complete financial statements of the LCTID may be obtained from its
Secretary-Treasurer at 1049 S. McCord Road, Holland, Ohio 43604.

Lucas County Economic Development Corporation (LCEDC)

The LCEDC is a legally separate organization created for the purpose of promoting, advancing
and encouraging the industrial, economic, commercial and civic development of the County
and the surrounding area. The LCEDC is governed by a Board of Directors that acts as the
authoritative and legislative body of the entity. The Board is comprised of no less than three
and no more than eleven members which are appointed by the County Commissioners. Each
Board member serves a term of three years. In addition, the County is able to impose its will
on the LCEDC. The LCEDC's fiscal year end is December 31. During 2023, the County
contributed $350,000 to the LCEDC. Information can be obtained from the LCEDC, 1
Government Center, Suite 800, Toledo, Ohio 43604.

RELATED ORGANIZATIONS

Toledo-Lucas County Public Library (the “Library”)

The Library is a legally separate organization that is governed by a seven-member Board of
Trustees. Four of the Trustees are appointed by the Lucas County Commissioners and three
are chosen by the Lucas County Common Pleas Court Judges. The Library determines and
operates its own budget. Control and management of the Library is governed by sections
3375.33 to 3375.39 of the Ohio Revised Code. The Library provides no financial benefit to or
burden on the County.
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LUCAS COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Continued)

Toledo Area Metropolitan Park District (the “Park District”)

The Park District is a legally separate organization that is governed by a three-member Board
of Park Commissioners. The Lucas County Probate Court appoints all three members of the
Board of Park Commissioners. Appointments are for three-year terms. The District is
dedicated to the conservation of natural resources and wildlife, while providing various
recreational facilities and services. These activities are directly controlled by the Board of Park
Commissioners through the budgetary process. The Park District provides no financial benefit
to or burden on the County.

Lucas Metropolitan Housing Authority (the “Authority”)

The Authority is a legally separate organization that is governed by a five-member Board of
Commissioners. Three of the five Board members are appointed by County officials. The
Probate Court, Common Pleas Court, and Board of County Commissioners appoint one board
member each. The remaining two Board members are appointed by the Mayor of the City of
Toledo. The Authority provides no financial benefit to or burden on the County.

Toledo Area Sanitary District (the “Sanitary District”)

The Sanitary District is a body corporate and politic established to exercise the rights and
privileges conveyed to it by the constitution and laws of the State of Ohio. The District was
established September 27, 1945, by the Common Pleas Court of Lucas County following a
petition to the court for the establishment of the District for the abatement and control of
mosquitoes. In accordance with the State statute, responsibility for policy determination for the
District resides with the Director which is appointed by the judges of the Common Pleas Court.
The Sanitary District provides no financial benefit to or burden on the County.

JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS

Corrections Commission of Northwest Ohio (CCNO)

CCNO is a jointly governed organization among Defiance, Fulton, Henry, Lucas, and Williams
counties. The CCNO was established to provide jail space for convicted criminals in the five
counties and to provide a correctional center for the inmates. The CCNO was created in 1987
and occupancy started in 1990. The commission team consists of twelve members, including
a chief law enforcement officer and one county commissioner or administrative official from
each entity. The commission team exercises total control over the operation of the CCNO
including budgeting, contracting, and designating management.

Each entity is responsible for a portion of the capital and operating budget as follows:

Lucas County 47.89%
Defiance County 16.38%
Fulton County 12.90%
Williams County 13.65%
Henry County 9.18%

Totals 100.00%
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In 2023, the County contributed $4,722,582 for the CCNQO’s operations, which represents
47.58% of total contributions. All debt for the construction of the jail was incurred by the
participating governmental agencies and is not a liability of the Corrections Commission of
Northwest Ohio. Lucas County has no bonds outstanding at year end for construction of the
regional jail. Financial information can be obtained from Tonya Justus, Fiscal Manager,
Corrections Commission of Northwest Ohio, 03151 County Road 24.25 RT. 1, Box 100-A,
Stryker, Ohio 43557.

Lucas County Family and Children First Council (the “Council”)

The Council is a legally separate organization whose mission is to coordinate a publicly
accountable, cost-effective system of services that supports health, education, and well-being
of families in Lucas County. The Council is a jointly governed organization. The operations of
the Lucas County Family and Children First Council are controlled by an oversight committee.
The oversight committee includes various officials from the County. The Lucas County Auditor
is the fiscal agent for the Council and the activity of the Council is reported in an custodial fund
on the County’s financial statements. During 2023, the County made no contributions to the
Council. Financial information can be obtained from the Lucas County Auditor’s Office, One
Government Center, Suite 600, Toledo, Ohio 43604-2255.

Toledo-Lucas County Port Authority (the “Port Authority”)

The Port Authority is a legally separate organization created under the Ohio Revised Code.
The Port Authority is a jointly governed organization between Lucas County and the City of
Toledo. The Port Authority conducts port operations and economic development activities.
The Port Authority is governed by a thirteen-member Board of Directors, six of whom are
appointed by the Mayor of the City of Toledo with approval of City Council, six by the Lucas
County Commissioners, and one by joint action of the City of Toledo and Lucas County. The
Board exercises total control over the operation of the corporation including budgeting,
appropriating, contracting and designating management. Each participant's degree of control
is limited to its representation on the Board. During 2023, the County made no contributions
to the Port Authority. Information can be obtained from the Toledo-Lucas Port Authority, One
Maritime Plaza, Suite 701, Toledo, Ohio 43604-1866.

Lucas County 911 Regional Council of Governments

The Lucas County 911 Regional Council of Governments (the “COG”) is a jointly governed
organization between Lucas County and the other subdivisions located in Lucas County (the
‘members”). Formed as a Council of Governments as permitted under Ohio Revised Code
Section 167.01, the intent of the COG is for the members to share in providing the financial
resources and infrastructure needed to operate a safe, effective, and efficient 911 system for
Lucas County and all of the subdivisions within its jurisdictional territory. The COG is controlled
by a Governing Board of Directors consisting of the Sheriff of Lucas County, police chiefs, and
fire chiefs from the County. The degree of control exercised by any member is limited to its
representation on the Governing Board of Directors. Each member is annually assessed a
required contribution based on its utilization of the computer aided dispatch system. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB Statement No. 61, the County
does not have any equity interest in the COG. Financial information may be obtained by writing
to the Lucas County Auditor’s office, at One Government Center, Suite 600, Toledo, OH 43604,
or by calling 419-213-4406.
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OneOhio Recovery Foundation Region 4 (the “Foundation”)

The Foundation is a jointly governed organization among the governments located in Lucas
County. The Foundation was established to designate recipients of the regions statewide
opioid settlement allocations and to appoint a representative to the statewide OneOhio
Recovery Foundation. The Foundation is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors,
three of whom are appointed by the Lucas County Commissioners, two of whom represent the
City of Toledo, one representative is appointed by a simple majority of municipalities of Lucas
County, excluding any municipality that already has a seat, and one representative appointed
by a simple majority of the townships of Lucas County. The Board determines how opioid
settlement funds should be disbursed. Each participant's degree of control is limited to its
representation on the Board. During 2023, the County made no contributions to the
Foundation.

POTENTIAL COMPONENT UNITS REPORTED AS CUSTODIAL FUNDS

The County Treasurer, as the custodian of public funds, invests all public monies held on
deposit in the County treasury. In the case of the separate agencies, boards, and commissions
listed below, the County serves as fiscal agent, but is not financially accountable for their
operations. Accordingly, the following entities are presented as custodial funds within the
financial statements since the County acts as fiscal agent and holds monies on their behalf at
year end:

Lucas County Board of Health

Lucas County Family and Children First Council (a jointly governed organization)
Lucas County Soil and Water Conservation District

Outdoor Sylvania Community Parks

Lucas County Local Emergency Planning Commission

Lucas County 911 Regional Council of Governments

B. Basis of Presentation

The County’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a
statement of net position and a statement of activities, the fund financial statements, which
provide a more detailed level of financial information, and the notes to the basic financial
statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements - The statement of net position and the statement
of activities display information about the County as a whole. The activities of the internal
service funds are eliminated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses. These statements
include the financial activities of the primary government except for fiduciary funds.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the County at year end. The
statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for each program or function of the County’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are
those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department; therefore, clearly
identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of
the goods or services offered by the program, along with grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues
not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the County, with
certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues
identifies the extent to which each function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues
of the County.
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As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and other
charges between the County’s water and sewer function and various other functions of the
County. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues
reported for the various functions concerned.

Fund Financial Statements - During the year, the County segregates transactions related to
certain County functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management
and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present
financial information of the County at a more detailed level. The focus of governmental and
enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is presented in a
separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. The
internal service funds are combined and presented in a single column on the face of the
proprietary fund statements. Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

C. Fund Accounting

The County uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as
a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. There are three categories
of funds: governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are those through which most governmental
functions of the County are financed. Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources,
uses and balances of current financial resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the
various governmental funds according to the purposes for which they may or must be used.
Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The difference between
the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources of the
governmental funds is reported as fund balance.

The following are the County’s major governmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for and report all financial resources
not accounted for and reported in another fund. The unassigned general fund balance is
available for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according to the general
laws of Ohio.

Mental Health and Recovery Fund - This fund accounts for and reports a County-wide
property tax levy, state grants, and reimbursements that are restricted for mental health
programs and alcohol and drug recovery programs.

Children Services Board Fund - This fund accounts for and reports a County-wide property
tax levy, state grants, and reimbursements that are restricted for County child care
programs.

Board of Developmental Disabilities Fund - This fund accounts for and reports a County-
wide property tax levy, state grants, and reimbursements that are restricted for care and
services for developmentally disabled individuals.
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Debt _Service Fund - This fund accounts for and reports financial resources that are
committed for expenditures of principal and interest on general long-term debt.

Capital Improvements Fund - This fund accounts for and reports financial resources that
are committed for expenditures of capital improvements and acquisitions.

The other governmental funds of the County account for grants and other resources whose
use is restricted, committed, or assigned for a particular purpose.

Proprietary Funds - The County’s proprietary funds consist of enterprise funds and internal
service funds. Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income,
changes in net position, financial position, and cash flows. These funds are used to account
for operations that provide services which are financed primarily by user charges or activities
where periodic measurement of income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy,
management control or other purposes.

The County reports the following major enterprise funds:

Water Supply System Fund - This fund accounts for the distribution of treated water to
individuals and commercial users of Lucas County.

Wastewater Treatment Fund - This fund accounts for wastewater treatment services
provided to the Sanitary Engineer, cities of Maumee and Sylvania, Village of Waterville,
Sylvania Township, other portions of Lucas County, and portions of Wood County.

Sewer System Fund - This fund accounts for sanitary sewer services provided to
individuals and commercial users in Lucas County and portions of Wood County.

Other enterprise funds of the County are used to account for (1) sanitary engineer operations
related to the administrative costs of operating the water supply system, wastewater treatment
system, and sewer system, (2) administration of solid waste disposal county-wide, and (3)
operation of parking facilities. These funds are nonmajor funds whose activity has been
aggregated and presented in a single column in the fund financial statements.

Additionally, the County reports internal service funds which account for the goods or services
provided by certain County departments to other funds, departments and other governmental
units, on a cost reimbursement basis. The County’s internal service funds include activities
related to the following operations: imaging lab, central supplies, vehicle maintenance,
telecommunications, self-funded health insurance program, centralized drug testing, risk
retention insurance program, self-funded workers’ compensation program, self-funded
prescription drugs program, and a self-funded dental insurance program.

Fiduciary Funds - Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position.
The fiduciary fund category is split into four classifications: pension and other employee benefit
trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds and custodial funds. Trust funds
are distinguished from custodial funds by the existence of a trust agreement or equivalent
arrangements that have certain characteristics. Custodial funds are used to report fiduciary
activities that are not required to be reported in a trust fund.
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The County’s custodial funds account for licenses, permits, and fees distributed to other
political subdivisions and assets held by the County for political subdivisions in which the
County acts as fiscal agent, which include the Lucas County Board of Health, Lucas County
Family and Children First Council, Lucas County Soil and Water Conservation District, The
Olander Park District, Lucas County 911 Regional Council of Governments, and the Lucas
County Local Emergency Planning Commission and for taxes, State-levied shared revenues
and fines and forfeitures collected and distributed to other political subdivisions.

D. Measurement Focus

Government-Wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are
prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. All assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with the operation of the
County are included on the statement of net position.

Fund Financial Statements - All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current
financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets,
current deferred outflows of resources, current liabilities and current deferred inflows of
resources generally are included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and other
financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other finan